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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-looking statements relate to, among other
things, the operating performance of New Senior Investment Group Inc.’s (“New Senior,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our”) investments, the stability of our earnings, and our
financing needs. Forward-looking statements are generally identifiable by use of forward-looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” “would,” “should,” “potential,” “intend,”
“expect,” “plan,” “endeavor,” “seek,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “could,” “project,” “predict,” “continue” or other similar words or expressions. Forward-looking statements
are based on certain assumptions, discuss future expectations, describe future plans and strategies, contain projections of results of operations or of financial condition or state other
forward-looking information. Our ability to predict results or the actual outcome of future plans or strategies is inherently uncertain. Although we believe that the expectations
reflected in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, our actual results and performance could differ materially from those set forth in the forwardlooking statements. These forward-looking statements involve risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results in future periods to differ materially from
forecasted results. Factors which could have a material adverse effect on our operations and future prospects include, but are not limited to:
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the duration and scope of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) global pandemic, its impact on occupancy rates and on the Company’s operations and the operations of its
operators/tenant; actions that local, state and the federal government take in response to the pandemic, including the introduction of public health measures and other
regulations that could affect the operations of our properties; the effects of the health and safety measures adopted by us and our operators/tenant related to the pandemic;
increased operational costs as a result of health and safety measures related to COVID-19, and the overall impact of COVID-19 on our business, results of operations,
financial condition and liquidity, as well as on the price of our common stock;
our ability to comply with the terms of our financings, which depends in part on the performance of our operators;
any increase in our borrowing costs as a result of rising interest rates or other factors;
our ability to pay down, refinance, restructure or extend our indebtedness as it becomes due or as needed to comply with the terms of our covenants or to facilitate our ability
to sell assets;
our ability to manage our liquidity and sustain distributions to our stockholders, particularly in light of the cash shortfall described in our risk factors under “Part II, Item 1A”.
and under “Part I, Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Liquidity and Capital Resources”;
our dependence on our property managers and tenant to operate our properties successfully and in compliance with the terms of our agreements with them, applicable law
and the terms of our financings;
factors affecting the performance of our properties, such as increases in costs (including, but not limited to, the costs of labor, supplies, insurance and property taxes);
concentration risk with respect to Holiday Retirement (“Holiday”), which, for the three months ended March 31, 2020, accounted for 94.3% of total net operating income
(“NOI”) from continuing operations;
risks associated with a change of control in the ownership or senior management of Holiday;
our ability and the ability of our property managers and tenant to obtain and maintain adequate property, liability and other insurance from reputable, financially stable
providers;
changes of federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to employment, fraud and abuse practices, Medicaid reimbursement and licensure, etc., including those
affecting the healthcare industry that affect our costs of compliance or increase the costs, or otherwise affect the operations or our property managers or tenant;
the ability of our property managers and tenant to maintain the financial strength and liquidity necessary to satisfy their respective obligations and liabilities to us and third
parties, particularly in light of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on their businesses;
the quality and size of our investment pipeline, our ability to execute investments at attractive risk-adjusted prices, our ability to finance our investments on favorable terms,
and our ability to deploy investable cash in a timely manner;
our ability to sell properties on favorable terms and to realize the anticipated benefits from any such dispositions, including as a result a reduction of real estate value related
to the COVID-19 pandemic;
changes in economic conditions generally and the real estate, senior housing and bond markets specifically, including general economic uncertainty as a result of the COVID19 pandemic and a worsening of global economic conditions or low levels of economic growth;
our stock price performance and any disruption or lack of access to the capital markets or other sources of financing, including as a result of factors influenced by the COVID19 pandemic;
the impact of any current or future legal proceedings and regulatory investigations and inquiries on us or our operators;
our reliance on our operators for timely delivery of accurate property-level financial results; and

•

our ability to maintain our qualification as a Real Estate Investment Trust (“REIT”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes and the potentially onerous consequences that any
failure to maintain such qualification would have on our business.

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in any forward-looking statements contained herein are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity,
performance or achievements. The factors noted above could cause our actual results to differ significantly from those indicated by any forward-looking statement
Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any of these forward-looking statements, which reflect our management’s views only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, and to consider carefully the factors discussed in “Part II, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and “Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of our 2019
Annual Report on Form 10-K in evaluating these forward-looking statements. We are under no duty to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this report to
conform these statements to actual results.

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING EXHIBITS
In reviewing the agreements included as exhibits to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, please remember that they are included to provide you with information regarding their terms
and are not intended to provide any other factual or disclosure information about the Company or the other parties to the agreements. The agreements contain representations and
warranties by each of the parties to the applicable agreement. These representations and warranties have been made solely for the benefit of the other parties to the applicable
agreement and:
•

should not in all instances be treated as categorical statements of fact, but rather as a way of allocating the risk to one of the parties if those statements prove to be
inaccurate;

•

have been qualified by disclosures that were made to the other party in connection with the negotiation of the applicable agreement, which disclosures are not necessarily
reflected in the agreement;

•

may apply standards of materiality in a way that is different from what may be viewed as material to you or other investors; and

•

were made only as of the date of the applicable agreement or such other date or dates as may be specified in the agreement and are subject to more recent developments.

Accordingly, these representations and warranties may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the date they were made or at any other time. Additional information about the
Company may be found elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the Company’s other public filings, which are available without charge through the Securities and
Exchange Commission’s (“SEC”) website at www.sec.gov.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NEW SENIOR INVESTMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(dollars in thousands, except share data)
March 31, 2020

December 31, 2019

(Unaudited)

Assets
Real estate investments:
Land
Buildings, improvements and other
Accumulated depreciation

$

Net real estate property

134,643
1,972,758
(368,979)

$

1,738,422

Acquired lease and other intangible assets
Accumulated amortization

1,753,124

7,642
(2,327)

Net real estate intangibles
Net real estate investments
Assets from discontinued operations
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables and other assets, net

134,643
1,970,036
(351,555)
7,642
(2,238)

5,315

5,404

1,743,737

1,758,528

—
135,103
32,148

363,489
39,614
33,078

Total Assets

$

1,910,988

$

2,194,709

Liabilities, Redeemable Preferred Stock and Equity
Liabilities
Debt, net
Liabilities from discontinued operations
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

$

1,585,936
—
62,313

$

1,590,632
267,856
59,320

Total Liabilities

1,648,249

1,917,808

40,500

40,506

—

—

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Redeemable preferred stock, $0.01 par value with $100 liquidation preference, 400,000 shares authorized, issued and
outstanding as of both March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019
Equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 99,600,000 shares (excluding 400,000 shares of redeemable preferred stock)
authorized, none issued or outstanding as of both March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 2,000,000,000 shares authorized, 82,880,222 and 82,964,438 shares issued and
outstanding as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total Equity
$

Total Liabilities, Redeemable Preferred Stock and Equity
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements (unaudited).
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829
902,288
(666,424)
(14,454)

830
901,889
(660,588)
(5,736)

222,239

236,395

1,910,988

$

2,194,709

NEW SENIOR INVESTMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)
(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Three Months Ended March 31,
2020

2019

Revenues
Resident fees and services

$

Rental revenue

85,007

$

85,749

1,583

1,582

86,590

87,331

Property operating expense

51,065

52,939

Interest expense

17,219

19,850

Depreciation and amortization

17,536

16,994

5,846

4,978

133

492

Total revenues

Expenses

General and administrative expense
Acquisition, transaction and integration expense
Loss on extinguishment of debt

5,884

Other (income) expense

—

(105)

Total expenses
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense

1,315

97,578

96,568

(10,988)

(9,237)

60

Loss from continuing operations

36

(11,048)

(9,273)

Discontinued Operations:
Gain on sale of real estate

19,992

Loss from discontinued operations

(3,107)

Discontinued operations, net
Net income (loss)
Deemed dividend on redeemable preferred stock

—
(1,920)

16,885

(1,920)

5,837

(11,193)

(598)

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders

(598)

$

5,239

$

(11,791)

$

(0.14)

$

(0.12)

Basic earnings per common share: (A)
Loss from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders
Discontinued operations, net

0.20

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders

(0.02)

$

0.06

$

(0.14)

$

(0.14)

$

(0.12)

Diluted earnings per common share:
Loss from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders
Discontinued operations, net

0.20
$

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders

0.06

(0.02)
$

(0.14)

Weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding
Basic and diluted

(B)

82,386,622

Dividends declared and paid per share of common stock

$

0.13

82,203,069
$

0.13

(A) Basic earnings per common share (“ EPS”) is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding. The
outstanding shares used to calculate the weighted average basic shares exclude 493,599 and 800,381 restricted stock awards, net of forfeitures, as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, as those shares
were issued but were not vested and therefore, not considered outstanding for purposes of computing basic income (loss) per share. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to
common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding plus the additional dilutive effect, if any, of common stock equivalents during each period.
(B) Dilutive share equivalents and options were excluded for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive given our loss position.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements (unaudited).
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NEW SENIOR INVESTMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (Unaudited)
(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Three Months Ended March 31,
2020

Net loss
Other comprehensive loss:
Unrealized loss on cash flow hedge

$

2019

(11,048)
(8,718)

Total other comprehensive loss

(8,718)
(19,766)

Total comprehensive loss
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements (unaudited).
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$

(9,273)
—
—
(9,273)

NEW SENIOR INVESTMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Unaudited)
(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2020
Common Stock
Shares
Equity at December 31, 2019
Equity awards vested
Shares repurchased and retired to satisfy tax
withholding upon vesting

Amount

82,964,438

$

23,137

Accumulated Deficit

830

$

(660,588)

901,889

$

(5,736)

Total Equity
$

236,395

(107,353)

—

(1)

—

—

—

—

Dividends declared - common stock ($0.13 per
share)

—

—

Dividends declared - equity awards ($0.13 per
share)

—

Deemed dividend on redeemable preferred stock

—

Dividends declared on redeemable preferred stock
Other comprehensive loss
Equity at March 31, 2020

$

—

Amortization of equity-based compensation

Net income

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Additional Paid-in
Capital

(998)

—

(999)

1,397

—

1,397

(10,708)

—

—

(10,708)

—

(367)

—

—

(367)

—

(500)

—

—

(500)

—

—

(98)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
82,880,222

—
$

5,837

829

$

(666,424)

—
$

902,288

(98)

(8,718)

(8,718)

—
$

(14,454)

5,837
$

222,239

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019
Common Stock
Shares
Equity at December 31, 2018
Amortization of equity-based compensation

Amount

82,148,869

$

Additional Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated Deficit

821

$

(616,504)

$

898,135

Total Equity
$

282,452

—

—

—

449

60,975

1

—

274

Dividends declared - common stock ($0.13 per share)

—

—

(10,687)

—

(10,687)

Dividends declared - equity awards ($0.13 per share)

—

—

(104)

—

(104)

Deemed dividend on redeemable preferred stock

—

—

(598)

—

(598)

Net loss

—

—

(11,193)

—

(11,193)

Directors shares issued

Equity at March 31, 2019

82,209,844

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements (unaudited).
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822

$

(639,086)

$

898,858

449
275

$

260,594

NEW SENIOR INVESTMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)
(dollars in thousands)

Three Months Ended March 31,
2020

2019

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income (loss)

$

5,837

$

(11,193 )

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation of tangible assets and amortization of intangible assets

17,536

16,994

Amortization of deferred financing costs

742

792

Amortization of deferred revenue, net

(64 )

616

Non-cash straight-line rental revenue

(134 )

(173 )

Loss on extinguishment of debt

5,884

—

Amortization of equity-based compensation

1,397

449

Gain on sale of real estate

(19,992 )

Other non-cash expense

—

235

1,046

Changes in:
Receivables and other assets, net

(2,505 )

(2,110 )

(10,072 )

(20,244 )

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities - continuing operations

(1,136 )

(13,823 )

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities - discontinued operations

(3,105 )

2,728

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

(4,241 )

(11,095 )

(2,787 )

(5,263 )

(2,787 )

(5,263 )

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Capital expenditures, net of insurance proceeds
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities - continuing operations
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities - discontinued operations

(A)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

373,805

(1,384 )

371,018

(6,647 )

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Principal payments of mortgage notes payable and capital lease obligations

(1,189 )

(1,844 )

Proceeds from mortgage notes payable

270,015

—

Proceeds from borrowings on revolving credit facility

100,000

—

(368,149 )

—

Repayments of mortgage notes payable
Payment of exit fee on extinguishment of debt

(4,504 )

Payment of deferred financing costs

(4,767 )

(588 )

(81 )

(35 )

Purchase of interest rate caps
Taxes paid related to net settlement of equity-based compensation awards

(999 )

Payment of common stock dividend

—

(10,708 )

Payment of redeemable preferred stock dividend

(604 )

Payment of restricted stock dividend

(191 )

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities - continuing operations
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities - discontinued operations

—

(10,687 )
—
—

(21,177 )
(B)

(13,154 )

(260,996 )

(1,087 )

(282,173 )

(14,241 )

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

84,604

(31,983 )

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period

63,829

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

$

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period

148,433

92,656
$

60,673

(A) For the three months ended March 31, 2020, amount consists primarily of net proceeds from the AL/MC Portfolio Disposition. Refer to “ Note 3 - Discontinued Operations” for details.
(B) For the three months ended March 31, 2020, amount consists primarily of repayments of debt in conjunction with the AL/MC Portfolio Disposition. Refer to “ Note 3 - Discontinued Operations” for details.
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NEW SENIOR INVESTMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)
(dollars in thousands)

Three Months Ended March 31,
2020

2019

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid during the period for interest expense

$

18,922

$

22,171

—

$

275

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities
Issuance of common stock

$

Capital lease obligations

278

215

Three Months Ended March 31,
2020

2019

Reconciliation of Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

$

(A)

39,614

$

24,215

Total, beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents

20,234

$

63,829

$

92,656

$

135,103

$

41,519

Restricted cash (A)

13,330
$

Total, end of period

72,422

148,433

19,154
$

60,673

(A) Restricted cash consists of (i) amounts held by lender in tax, insurance, replacement reserve and other escrow accounts and (ii) security deposits; amounts relating to continuing operations are included in
“ Receivables and other assets, net” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements (unaudited).
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NEW SENIOR INVESTMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)
March 31, 2020
(dollars in tables in thousands, except share data)

1.

ORGANIZATION

New Senior is a REIT primarily focused on investing in private pay senior housing properties. As of March 31, 2020, we owned a diversified portfolio of 103 primarily private pay senior
housing properties located across 36 states. We are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “SNR” and are headquartered in New York, New York.
We operate in two reportable segments: (1) Managed Independent Living (“IL”) Properties, and (2) Other Properties.
Managed IL Properties – We own 102 properties managed by Holiday, FHC Property Management LLC (together with its subsidiaries, “Merrill Gardens”), and Grace Management, Inc.
(“Grace”) (collectively, the “Property Managers”), under Property Management Agreements (collectively, the “Property Management Agreements”). Under the Property Management
Agreements, the Property Managers are responsible for the day-to-day operations of our senior housing properties and are entitled to a management fee in accordance with the terms
of the Property Management Agreements. Our Property Management Agreements have initial five-year or ten-year terms, with successive, automatic one-year renewal periods. We
generally pay management fees of 4.5% to 5% of effective gross income pursuant to our Property Management Agreements and, in some cases, the Property Managers are eligible to
earn an incentive fee based on operating performance.
Other Properties – We own one CCRC and lease this property to Watermark Retirement Communities, Inc. (“Watermark”), a healthcare operating company under a triple net lease
agreement. In a triple net lease arrangement, the lessee agrees to operate and maintain the property at its own expense, including maintenance, utilities, taxes, insurance, repairs, capital
improvements and the payroll expense of property-level employees. Our triple net lease agreement has an initial term of 15 years and includes a renewal option and annual rent
increases ranging from 2.75% to 3.25%.
We were formed as a Delaware limited liability company on May 17, 2012 as a wholly owned subsidiary of Drive Shack Inc., formerly Newcastle Investment Corp. (“Drive Shack”). On
November 6, 2014, we were spun-off from Drive Shack and our shares of common stock were publicly listed on the NYSE.
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP’’) for interim financial information and
with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of New Senior and its consolidated subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. We consolidate those entities in which we have control over significant operating, financial and investing
decisions of the entity. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. These
consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2019, as filed with the SEC.
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation, primarily related to classification of certain properties as discontinued operations.
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NEW SENIOR INVESTMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)
March 31, 2020
(dollars in tables in thousands, except share data)

Significant Accounting Policies
Earnings per Common Share
The two-class method determines EPS for each class of common stock and participating securities according to dividends declared (or accumulated) and their respective participation
rights in undistributed earnings. Non-vested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends are participating securities and, therefore are included in the
computation of basic EPS pursuant to the two-class method. During the three months ended March 31, 2020, we issued 233,974 unvested restricted stock units to officers and
employees with certain participating rights (“Participating RSUs”).
Diluted earnings per share of common stock is calculated by including the effect of dilutive securities. Participating RSUs are included in the computation of diluted EPS by using the
more dilutive of the two-class method or treasury stock method. Any anti-dilutive securities are excluded from the calculation. During periods of loss, there is no allocation required
under the two-class method since the participating securities do not have a contractual obligation to fund losses.
Refer to our significant accounting policies disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 for other significant accounting policies.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
On January 1, 2020, we adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326), Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”). This
standard requires a company to recognize an impairment allowance equal to its current estimate of all contractual cash flows that it does not expect to collect from financial assets
measured at amortized cost. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements as our entire balance of receivables relates to lease
agreements with our residents and tenant, which are specifically excluded from this standard.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting (“ASU 2020-04”).
This ASU provides optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contract modifications and hedging relationships, subject to meeting certain criteria, that reference
London Inter-Bank Rate (“LIBOR”) or another rate that is expected to be discontinued. Companies can adopt ASU 2020-04 anytime during the effective period of March 12, 2020
through December 31, 2022. We are assessing the impact this guidance may have on our consolidated financial statements.
3. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
On October 31, 2019, we entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the “Sale Agreement”) to sell a portfolio of 28 assisted living/memory care (“AL/MC”) properties for a gross sale
price of $385.0 million (the “AL/MC Portfolio Disposition”). The portfolio represented a separate reportable segment at the time and the sale represented a strategic shift that would
have a major effect on our operations and financial results. As a result, we classified the assets and liabilities associated with the operations of the 28 AL/MC properties as
discontinued operations in our consolidated financial statements.
On February 10, 2020, we completed the AL/MC Portfolio Disposition and recognized a gain on sale of $20.0 million, which is included in “Discontinued operations, net” in our
Consolidated Statements of Operations. In conjunction with the sale, we repaid $260.2 million of debt specifically attributable to the properties included in the disposition and
recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of $3.6 million, comprising of $2.5 million in prepayment penalties and $1.1 million in the write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs,
which is included in “Loss from discontinued operations” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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As of December 31, 2019, the assets and liabilities associated with discontinued operations were as follows:
December 31, 2019
Assets
Real estate investments:
Land
Buildings, improvements and other
Accumulated depreciation

$

43,313
397,808
(87,719)

Net real estate property

353,402

Acquired lease and other intangible assets
Accumulated amortization

996
(996)

Net real estate intangibles

—

Net real estate investments

353,402

Receivables and other assets, net

10,087

Assets from discontinued operations

$

363,489

Liabilities
Debt, net
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

$

255,096
12,760

Liabilities from discontinued operations

$

267,856

For the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, the results of operations associated with discontinued operations are as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2020
Revenues
Resident fees and services

$

Total Revenues
Expenses
Property operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Acquisition, transaction, and integration expense
General and administrative expense
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Other income
Total expenses
Loss before income taxes
Income tax (benefit) expense
$

Loss from discontinued operations

9

2019
14,024

$

30,288

14,024

30,288

11,328
—
1,361
1,037
8
3,602
(204)

24,408
3,793
3,869
158
5
—
(69)

17,132

32,164

(3,108)
(1)

(1,876)
44

(3,107)

$

(1,920)
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4. SEGMENT REPORTING
We operate in two reportable business segments, Managed IL Properties and Other Properties. Our Managed IL Properties segment includes 102 IL properties throughout the United
States managed by Holiday, Merrill Gardens and Grace under Property Management Agreements. Our Other Properties segment includes one CCRC property, which is currently leased
to a healthcare operating company under a triple net lease agreement that obligates the tenant to pay all property-related expenses, including maintenance, utilities, taxes, insurance,
repairs, capital improvements and the payroll expense of property-level employees. It also includes the operations of two managed AL/MC properties we previously owned during the
three months ended March 31, 2019 and sold in the second quarter of 2019.
We evaluate performance of the combined properties in each reportable business segment based on segment NOI. We define NOI as total revenues less property-level operating
expenses, which include property management fees and travel cost reimbursements. We believe that net income, as defined by GAAP, is the most appropriate earnings measurement.
However, we believe that segment NOI serves as a useful supplement to net income because it allows investors, analysts and management to measure unlevered property-level
operating results and to compare our operating results between periods and to the operating results of other real estate companies on a consistent basis. Segment NOI should not be
considered as an alternative to net income as determined in accordance with GAAP.
Depreciation and amortization, interest expense, acquisition, transaction and integration expense, termination fee, management fees and incentive compensation to affiliate, general and
administrative expense, loss on extinguishment of debt, impairment of real estate, other expense (income), gain (loss) on sale of real estate, gain on lease termination, litigation
proceeds, net, income tax expense (benefit) and discontinued operations, net are not allocated to individual segments for purposes of assessing segment performance. There are no
intersegment sales.
Three Months Ended March 31, 2020
Managed IL Properties

Other Properties

Consolidated

Revenues
Resident fees and services

$

85,007

Rental revenue
Less: Property operating expense
Segment NOI

$

$

—

$

85,007

—

1,583

1,583

51,065

—

51,065

1,583

35,525

33,942

$

Depreciation and amortization

17,536

Interest expense

17,219

General and administrative expense

5,846

Acquisition, transaction and integration expense

133

Loss on extinguishment of debt

5,884

Other income

(105)

Total expenses

46,513

Loss before income taxes

(10,988)

Income tax expense

60

Loss from continuing operations

(11,048)

Discontinued operations:
Gain from sale of real estate

19,992

Loss from discontinued operations

(3,107)

Discontinued operations, net

16,885
$

Net income

10

5,837
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2019
Managed IL Properties

Other Properties

Consolidated

Revenues
Resident fees and services

$

83,745

Rental revenue
Less: Property operating expense
$

Segment NOI

$

2,004

$

85,749

—

1,582

1,582

50,719

2,220

52,939

1,366

34,392

33,026

$

Depreciation and amortization

16,994

Interest expense

19,850

General and administrative expense

4,978

Acquisition, transaction and integration expense

492

Other expense

1,315

Total expenses

43,629

Loss before income taxes

(9,237)

Income tax expense

36

Loss from continuing operations

(9,273)

Discontinued Operations:
Loss from discontinued operations

(1,920)

Discontinued operations, net

(1,920)
$

Net loss

(11,193)

Assets by reportable business segment are reconciled to total assets as follows:
March 31, 2020
Amount

Managed IL Properties
Other Properties
All other assets (A)
Total assets

December 31, 2019
Percentage

Amount

Percentage

$

1,735,305
62,612
113,071

90.8%
3.3%
5.9%

$

1,748,787
63,616
382,306

79.7%
2.9%
17.4%

$

1,910,988

100.0%

$

2,194,709

100.0%

(A) Includes $363.5 million of assets classified as discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2019. The remaining balance primarily consists of corporate cash which is not directly attributable to
our reportable business segments.
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The following table presents the percentage of total revenues by geographic location:
As of and for the three months ended
March 31, 2020
Number of Communities

Florida
California
Texas
North Carolina
Pennsylvania
Oregon
Other
Total

5.

As of and for the three months ended
March 31, 2019

% of Total Revenue

Number of Communities

% of Total Revenue

9
9
9
8
5
8
55

9.0%
10.3%
8.1%
8.5%
5.7%
7.0%
51.4%

9
9
9
8
6
8
56

9.1%
10.6%
7.8%
8.3%
6.7%
7.1%
50.4%

103

100.0%

105

100.0%

REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS

The following table summarizes our real estate investments:
March 31, 2020
Gross Carrying
Amount
Land

$

134,643

Building and improvements

$

2,107,401

$

(280,022)

106,206
$

Total real estate investments

Net Carrying
Value
—

1,866,552

Furniture, fixtures and equipment

December 31, 2019

Accumulated
Depreciation

134,643

(368,979)

$

1,738,422

$

2,104,679

$

(266,420)

106,170
$

Net Carrying
Value
—

1,863,866

17,249
$

Accumulated
Depreciation

134,643

1,586,530

(88,957)
$

Gross Carrying
Amount

(85,135)
$

(351,555)

134,643
1,597,446
21,035

$

1,753,124

Depreciation expense was $17.4 million and $16.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
The following table summarizes our real estate intangibles:
March 31, 2020

Gross Carrying
Amount
Intangible lease assets

$

7,642

Accumulated
Amortization
$

(2,327)

December 31, 2019

Net Carrying
Value
$

5,315

Weighted Average
Remaining
Amortization
Period
43.2 years

Gross Carrying
Amount
$

7,642

Accumulated
Amortization
$

(2,238)

Net Carrying
Value
$

5,404

Weighted Average
Remaining
Amortization
Period
43.0 years

Amortization expense was $0.1 million and $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
We evaluate long-lived assets, primarily consisting of our real estate investments, for impairment indicators. In performing this evaluation, market conditions and our current
intentions with respect to holding or disposing of the asset are considered. Where indicators of impairment are present, we evaluate whether the sum of the expected future
undiscounted cash flows is less than book value. Based on our assessment, no charges were necessary for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019.
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6.

RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS, NET
March 31, 2020

December 31, 2019

Escrows held by lenders (A)
Straight-line rent receivable
Prepaid expenses
Security deposits
Resident receivables, net
Income tax receivable
Other assets and receivables

$

10,461
4,218
6,462
2,851
1,422
636
6,098

$

15,895
4,084
3,534
2,763
1,345
821
4,636

Total receivables and other assets

$

32,148

$

33,078

(A) Represents amounts held by lenders in tax, insurance, replacement reserve and other escrow accounts that are related to mortgage notes collateralized by New Senior’s properties.

Straight-line Rent Receivable
Rental revenue from our triple net lease property is recognized on a straight-line basis over the applicable term of the lease when collectability of substantially all rents is probable.
Recognizing rental revenue on a straight-line basis typically results in recognizing revenue in excess of cash amounts contractually due from our tenants during the first half of the
lease term, creating a straight-line rent receivable.
We assess the collectability of straight-line rent receivables on an ongoing basis. This assessment is based on several qualitative and quantitative factors, including and as
appropriate, the payment history of the triple net lease tenant, the tenant’s ability to satisfy its lease obligations, the value of the underlying collateral or deposit, if any, and current
economic conditions. If our evaluation of these factors indicates it is not probable that we will collect substantially all rents, any lease income is limited to the lesser of the lease
income reflected on a straight-line basis or cash collected.
The following table sets forth future contracted minimum lease payments from the tenant within the Other Properties segment, excluding contingent payment escalations, as of
March 31, 2020:
2020 (nine months)
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$

4,455
6,066
6,233
6,405
6,581
38,888

Total future minimum lease payments

$

68,628
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7.

DEBT, NET
March 31, 2020
Outstanding Face
Amount

Floating Rate

(B)(C)(D)

$

Fixed Rate
Total

1,139,753

Carrying Value (A)

$

464,680
$

1,604,433

1,123,306
462,630

$

December 31, 2019

Maturity Date

Stated Interest Rate

Weighted Average
Maturity (Years)

Mar 2022- Mar 2030

1M LIBOR + 2.00%
to 1M LIBOR +
2.75%

6.2

Sep 2025

4.25%

5.3

1,585,936

6.0

Outstanding Face
Amount

$

1,139,036

Carrying Value (A)

$

1,128,100

$

1,590,632

464,680
$

1,603,716

462,532

(A) The totals are reported net of deferred financing costs of $18.5 million and $13.1 million as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.
(B) Substantially all of these loans have LIBOR caps that range between 3.38% and 3.75% as of March 31, 2020.
(C) Includes $100.0 million of borrowings outstanding under our Revolver as of March 31, 2020.
(D) As of March 31, 2020, $350.0 million of total floating rate debt has been hedged using an interest rate swap, which is carried at fair value. See “ Note 8 - Derivative Instruments” for more information.

The carrying value of the collateral relating to the floating rate and fixed rate debt was $1.2 billion and $0.5 billion, respectively, as of both March 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019.
Our debt agreements contain various customary financial and other covenants, in some cases including a debt service coverage ratio and project yield, as defined in the agreements.
We are in compliance with the covenants in our debt agreements as of March 31, 2020.
In February 2020, in conjunction with the AL/MC Portfolio Disposition, we obtained mortgage financing in the aggregate amount of $270.0 million from KeyBank and assigned to
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (the “2020 Freddie Financing”). The 2020 Freddie Financing is secured by 14 of our managed IL properties, matures on March 1, 2030, and
bears interest at an adjustable rate, adjusted monthly, equal to the sum of the one month LIBOR index rate plus 2.12%. Concurrently on the same date, we used the funds from the 2020
Freddie Financing and proceeds from the AL/MC Portfolio Disposition to prepay an aggregate of $368.1 million of secured loans. We recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of
$5.9 million, comprising of $4.5 million in prepayment penalties and $1.4 million in the write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs, and is recorded in “Loss on extinguishment of
debt” on our Consolidated Statements of Operations. We incurred a total of $3.3 million in deferred financing costs, which have been capitalized and are being amortized over the life
of the loan and the related amortization is included in “Interest expense” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
In addition, in February 2020, we also amended and restated our secured revolving credit facility in the amount of $125.0 million (the “Revolver”) and extended its maturity from
December 2021 to February 9, 2024. The amendment allows the Revolver to be increased with lender consent to a maximum aggregate amount of $500.0 million, of which (i) up to 10%
may be used for the issuance of letters of credit, and (ii) up to 10% may be drawn by us in the form of swing loans. The Revolver bears an interest rate of, at our option, (i) the sum of
LIBOR plus 2.0% or, in the case of a swing line loan, (ii) the greater of (a) the fluctuating annual rate of interest announced from time to time by KeyBank as its “prime rate,” plus 1.0%
(b) 1.5% above the effective federal funds rate and (c) the sum of LIBOR for a one-month interest period plus 2.0%. The Revolver is secured by nine of our IL properties and the pledge
of the equity interests of certain of our wholly owned subsidiaries. We continue to pay a fee for unused amounts of the Revolver under certain circumstances, which was not material
for the three months ended March 31, 2020.
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8.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Our objectives in using interest rate derivatives are to add stability to interest expense and to manage our exposure to interest rate movements.
Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments
Interest rate swap
In May 2019, we entered into a $350.0 million notional interest rate swap with a maturity of May 2022 that effectively converts LIBOR-based floating rate debt to fixed rate debt, thus
reducing the impact of interest-rate changes on future interest expense. The interest rate swap was designated and qualified as a cash flow hedge with the change in fair value
included in the assessment of hedge effectiveness deferred as a component of other comprehensive income (“OCI”), and reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods
during which the hedged transaction affects earnings.
As of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, our interest rate swap liability of $14.7 million and $5.9 million, respectively, was recorded in “Accrued expenses and other liabilities” in
our Consolidated Balance Sheets. For the three months ended March 31, 2020, $0.5 million of loss was reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into earnings
and was recorded in “Interest expense” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of March 31, 2020, approximately $5.5 million of our swap liability, which is included in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), is expected to be reclassified into earnings in the next 12 months.
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments
Interest rate caps
As of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, our interest rate cap assets were recorded in “Receivables and other assets, net” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Fair value losses
recognized for the three months ended March 31, 2020 were not material and fair value losses recognized for the three months ended March 31, 2019 were $0.5 million. These amounts
are included in “Other expense” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations and “Other non-cash expense” in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
9.

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES
March 31, 2020

Accounts payable

10,718
2,419
6,714
5,218
5,820
1,984
4,843
1,914
14,670
8,013

$

17,554
2,486
6,752
5,665
5,865
2,099
5,627
1,942
5,896
5,434

$

62,313

$

59,320

Security deposits payable
Due to property managers
Mortgage interest payable
Deferred community fees, net
Rent collected in advance
Property tax payable
Operating lease liability
Derivative liability
Other liabilities
Total accrued expenses and other liabilities
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10. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of our financial instruments were as follows:
March 31, 2020
Fair Value Hierarchy

Carrying Value

December 31, 2019
Fair Value

Carrying Value

Fair Value

Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (A)
Restricted cash

(A)

Interest rate caps (B)(D)

1

$

135,103

$

135,103

$

39,614

$

39,614

1

13,311

13,311

18,658

18,658

2

74

74

IMM

IMM

Financial Liabilities:
Mortgage debt (C)
Revolving credit facility

3
(C)

Interest rate swap (B)

$

1,489,965

$

1,450,925

$

1,590,632

$

1,592,855

3

95,971

94,239

—

—

2

14,670

14,670

5,736

5,736

(A) The carrying amount approximates fair value.
(B) Fair value based on pricing models that consider inputs including forward yield curves, cap strike rates, cap volatility and discount rates.
(C) Fair value based on a discounted cash flow valuation model. Significant inputs in the model include amounts and timing of expected future cash flows and market yields which are constructed based on inputs
implied from similar debt offerings. Our mortgage debt and revolving credit facility are not measured at fair value in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
(D) As of December 31, 2019, the carrying values and the fair value of our interest rate caps were immaterial.

11. INCOME TAXES
New Senior is organized and conducts its operations to qualify as a REIT under the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). However, certain of
our activities are conducted through our taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS”) and therefore are subject to federal and state income taxes at regular corporate tax rates.
The following table presents the provision (benefit) for income taxes (excluding discontinued operations):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2020

Current
Federal
State and local

$

Total current provision
Deferred
Federal
State and local
Total deferred provision

2019

—
60

$

60

36

—
—

—
—

—
$

Total provision for income taxes

—
36

60

—
$

36

In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income by the TRS during the periods in which temporary differences become
deductible before the net operating loss carryforward expires. Management believes that it is more likely than not that our net deferred tax assets will not be realized. As a result, we
recorded valuation allowances against our deferred tax asset of $7.7 million and $7.9 million as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. However, the amount of the
deferred tax asset considered realizable could be adjusted if (i) estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period are reduced or increased or (ii) objective negative
evidence in the form of cumulative losses is no longer present.
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As of March 31, 2020, our TRS had a loss carryforward of approximately $28.3 million for federal income tax purposes and $32.8 million for state income tax purposes. The federal net
operating losses will begin to expire at the end of 2034. The net operating loss carryforward can generally be used to offset future taxable income, if and when it arises.
12. REDEEMABLE PREFERRED STOCK, EQUITY AND EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
Redeemable Preferred Stock
On December 31, 2018, we issued 400,000 shares of our Series A Redeemable Preferred Stock to the private equity firm that formerly externally managed the Company (the “Former
Manager”). The Redeemable Preferred Stock are non-voting and have a $100 liquidation preference. Holders of the Redeemable Preferred Stock are entitled to cumulative cash
dividends at a rate per annum of 6.00% on the liquidation preference amount plus all accumulated and unpaid dividends. The Redeemable Preferred Stock is subject to certain terms
and conditions.
We may redeem, at any time, all but not less than all of the shares of Redeemable Preferred Stock for cash at a price equal to the liquidation preference amount of the Redeemable
Preferred Stock plus all accumulated and unpaid dividends thereon (the “Redemption Price”). On or after December 31, 2020, the holders of a majority of the then outstanding shares of
Redeemable Preferred Stock will have the right to require us to redeem up to 50% of the outstanding shares of Redeemable Preferred Stock, and on or after December 31, 2021, the
holders of a majority of the then outstanding shares of Redeemable Preferred Stock will have the right to require us to redeem all or any portion of the outstanding shares of
Redeemable Preferred Stock, in each case, for cash at the Redemption Price. Due to the ability of the holders to require us to redeem the outstanding shares, the Redeemable Preferred
Stock is excluded from Equity and reflected in our Consolidated Balance Sheets at its initial fair value of $40.0 million. The carrying value of the Redeemable Preferred Stock is
increased by the accumulated and unpaid dividends in the period with a corresponding increase in accumulated deficit. Accrued dividends are treated as deductions in the calculation
of net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders.
The following table is a rollforward of our Redeemable Preferred Stock for the three months ended March 31, 2020:
Balance as of December 31, 2019
Accrued dividend on Redeemable Preferred Stock
Paid dividend on Redeemable Preferred Stock

$

40,506
598
(604)

Balance as of March 31, 2020

$

40,500

Amended and Restated Stock Option and Incentive Award Plan
On January 1, 2019, our board of directors adopted an Amended and Restated Nonqualified Stock Option and Incentive Award Plan (the “Plan”) providing for the grant of equitybased awards, including restricted stock awards (RSAs), restricted stock units (RSUs), stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance awards and other equity-based and nonequity based awards, in each case to our directors, officers, employees, service providers, consultants and advisors. We have reserved 27,922,570 shares of our common stock for
issuance under the Plan. Vesting periods for these awards generally range from one to three years. Options expire ten years from the date of grant. Stock-based compensation expense
totaled $1.4 million and $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Equity and Dividends
In January 2020, strike prices for outstanding options as of December 31, 2019 were reduced by $0.52 (the “2019 ROC Adjustment”), reflecting the portion of our 2019 dividends which
were deemed return of capital pursuant to the terms of the Plan. In addition, 20,098 additional options were issued to the Former Manager, in order to maintain the intrinsic value of an
option grant with a strike price below the 2019 ROC Adjustment.
Earnings per Common Share
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income (loss)
by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding
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plus the additional dilutive effect, if any, of common stock equivalents during each period. Our common stock equivalents are our outstanding stock options and equity-based
compensation awards.
We have certain equity awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends, which are considered participating securities for the purposes of computing EPS pursuant to the twoclass method, and therefore we apply the two-class method in our computation of EPS. The two-class method is an earnings allocation methodology that determines EPS for common
shares and participating securities according to dividends declared or accumulated and participating rights in undistributed earnings. During periods of loss, there is no allocation
required under the two-class method since the participating securities do not have a contractual obligation to fund losses.
For the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, basic and diluted net income (loss) per share was computed by dividing net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders by
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted loss per share of common stock for
the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2020

Numerator
Income (Loss) from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders
Discontinued operations, net

$

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders
Less: Non-forfeitable dividends allocated to participating RSUs

2019

(11,646)
16,885

$

5,239
(30)
$

Net income (loss) available to common shares outstanding

5,209

(9,871)
(1,920)
(11,791)
—

$

(11,791)

Denominator
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding (A)
Dilutive common shares - equity awards and option (B)

82,386,622
—

82,203,069
—

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding

82,386,622

82,203,069

Basic earnings per common share:
Loss from continuing operations attributable to common shares
Discontinued operations, net

$

(0.14)

$

0.20

Net income (loss) attributable to common shares
Diluted earnings per common share:
Loss from continuing operations attributable to common shares
Discontinued operations, net

(0.02)

$

0.06

$

(0.14)

$

(0.14)

$

(0.12)

0.20
$

Net income (loss) attributable to common shares

(0.12)

0.06

(0.02)
$

(0.14)

(A) The outstanding shares used to calculate the weighted average basic shares exclude 493,599 and 800,381 restricted stock awards as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 net of forfeitures, respectively, as those shares
were issued but were not vested and therefore, not considered outstanding for purposes of computing basic income (loss) per common share for the three months ended March 31, 2020.
(B) During the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 , 1,527,646 and 892,626 dilutive share equivalents and options, respectively, were excluded as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive given our
loss position.

13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
As of March 31, 2020, management believes there are no material contingencies that would affect our results of operations, cash flows or financial position.
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NEW SENIOR INVESTMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)
March 31, 2020
(dollars in tables in thousands, except share data)

Certain Obligations, Liabilities and Litigation
We are and may become subject to various obligations, liabilities, investigations, inquiries and litigation assumed in connection with or arising from our on-going business, as well as
acquisitions, sales, leasing and other activities. These obligations and liabilities (including the costs associated with investigations, inquiries and litigation) may be greater than
expected or may not be known in advance. Any such obligations or liabilities could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, cash flows and results of operations,
particularly if we are not entitled to indemnification, or if a responsible third party fails to indemnify us.
Certain Tax-Related Covenants
If we are treated as a successor to Drive Shack under applicable U.S. federal income tax rules, and if Drive Shack failed to qualify as a REIT for a taxable year ending on or before
December 31, 2015, we could be prohibited from electing to be a REIT. Accordingly, in the separation and distribution agreement entered into to effect our spin-off from Drive Shack
(“Separation and Distribution Agreement”), Drive Shack (i) represented that it had no knowledge of any fact or circumstance that would cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT, (ii)
covenanted to use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with New Senior as necessary to enable us to qualify for taxation as a REIT and receive customary legal opinions
concerning REIT status, including providing information and representations to us and our tax counsel with respect to the composition of Drive Shack’s income and assets, the
composition of its stockholders and its operation as a REIT, and (iii) covenanted to use its reasonable best efforts to maintain its REIT status for each of Drive Shack’s taxable years
ending on or before December 31, 2015 (unless Drive Shack obtains an opinion from a nationally recognized tax counsel or a private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service
(“IRS”) to the effect that Drive Shack’s failure to maintain its REIT status will not cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT under the successor REIT rule referred to above).
Proceedings Indemnified and Defended by Third Parties
From time to time, we are party to certain legal actions, regulatory investigations and claims for which third parties are contractually obligated to indemnify, defend and hold us
harmless. While we are presently not being defended by any tenant and other obligated third parties in these types of matters, there is no assurance that our tenants, their affiliates or
other obligated third parties will continue to defend us in these matters, or that such parties will have sufficient assets, income and access to financing to enable them to satisfy their
defense and indemnification obligations to us.
Environmental Costs
As a commercial real estate owner, we are subject to potential environmental costs. As of March 31, 2020, management is not aware of any environmental concerns that would have a
material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.
Capital Improvement and Repair Commitments
We have agreed to make $1.0 million available for capital improvements during the 15 year lease period, which ends in 2030, to the triple net lease property under Watermark, none of
which has been funded as of March 31, 2020. Upon funding these capital improvements, we will be entitled to a rent increase.
Leases
As the lessee, we currently lease our corporate office space located in New York, New York under an operating lease agreement. The lease requires fixed monthly rent payments,
expires on June 30, 2024 and does not have any renewal option. We also currently lease equipment (e.g., dishwashers, copy machines and buses) used at certain of our Managed IL
Properties under operating lease agreements. Our leases have remaining lease terms ranging from one month to 4.3 years. We do not include any renewal options in our lease terms for
calculating our lease liability because as of March 31, 2020, we were not reasonably certain if we will exercise these renewal options at this time.
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NEW SENIOR INVESTMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)
March 31, 2020
(dollars in tables in thousands, except share data)

As of March 31, 2020, our future minimum lease payments under our operating leases are as follows:
Year
2020 (nine months)
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

Operating Leases
$

Total future minimum lease payments
Less imputed interest

392
509
471
466
235
310
2,383
(469)

$

Total operating lease liability

1,914

14. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On May 4, 2020, our board of directors declared a cash dividend on our common stock of $0.065 per share for the quarter ended March 31, 2020. The dividend is payable on June 19,
2020 to stockholders of record on June 5, 2020.
Coronavirus (COVID-19) global pandemic
The novel coronavirus (COVID-19) global pandemic is causing significant disruptions to the U.S. and global economies and has contributed to volatility and negative pressure in
financial markets. The full extent to which the pandemic will directly or indirectly impact our business including revenues, expenses, value of our real estate, collectability of
receivables and operating cash flows is highly uncertain and difficult to predict. A general economic downturn resulting from efforts to contain COVID-19 that persists over a long
period of time could have a prolonged negative impact on our financial condition and results of operations. As the extent and duration of the increasingly broad effects of COVID-19
on the U.S. economy remains unclear, it is difficult for us to assess and estimate its impact on our results of operations with any meaningful precision at this time.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is intended to help the reader understand the results of operations and financial condition.
The following should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included within this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This discussion
contains forward-looking statements that are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties. Actual results and the timing of events may differ significantly from those
expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements due to a number of factors, including those included under the heading “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking
Statements” and in Part II, Item 1A. “Risk Factors.”
OVERVIEW
Our Business
We are a REIT with a portfolio of 103 senior housing properties located across the United States. We are the only pure play senior housing REIT and one of the largest owners of
senior housing properties. We are listed on the NYSE under the symbol “SNR” and are headquartered in New York, New York.
We conduct our business through two reportable segments: Managed IL Properties and Other Properties. See our consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in
Part I, Item 1 for additional information regarding our segments.
COVID-19 & Considerations Related to Our Business
The novel coronavirus (COVID-19) global pandemic is causing significant disruptions to the U.S. and global economies and has contributed to volatility and negative pressure in
financial markets. The outbreak has led federal, state and local governments and public health authorities to impose measures intended to control its spread, including restrictions on
freedom of movement and business operations such as travel bans, border closings, business closures, quarantines and shelter-in-place orders.
As an owner of senior living properties, with a portfolio of 102 independent living (“IL”) properties and one continuing care retirement center (“CCRC”), COVID-19 impacts our
business in a number of ways. Our three operators and one tenant have all put into place various protocols to address the COVID-19 pandemic at our communities around the country.
The overall effects of COVID-19, will likely have an impact on two metrics that are fundamental to our business: occupancy and operating expenses. We believe that the adverse
impact that COVID-19 will have on the future operations and financial results at our communities will depend upon many factors, most of which are beyond our ability to control or
predict.
Occupancy:
As discussed in more detail in our Annual Report on Form 10-K under heading “Market Opportunity,” we believe that the rapidly growing senior citizen population in the U.S., in
conjunction with longer life expectancies and other favorable demographic trends, will result in substantially stronger demand for senior housing properties. We do not know the
extent of the impacts that COVID-19 will have on our business in the medium to longer term, and whether it will alter the demand for senior housing in general or in our properties in
particular. We do expect occupancy to significantly decline in the second quarter of 2020, significantly driven by the voluntary restrictions our operators have imposed on move-ins at
all of our properties. It is unclear when occupancy will recover, which will depend substantially on when move-in restrictions are lifted and on near-term demand trends, which are not
possible to predict at this time.
Expenses:
During the first quarter of 2020, operating expenses were in line with expectations through the middle of March. We saw a slight increase in property level expenses associated with
the COVID-19 pandemic towards the end of March, driven by expenditures related to the procurement of personal protective equipment (PPE) and increased costs associated with the
procurement of other supplies such as packaging necessary for in-room meal deliveries to residents. Our expectations in the second quarter of 2020 and for the near term are that while
there may be some variable cost savings associated with lower occupancy, we expect increased operating expenses related to responding to the COVID-19 pandemic. These expenses
are principally expected to be higher labor costs and the continued cost of PPE and other supplies. Depending upon how the pandemic continues to evolve, there may be other future
operating expenses that we may be required to bear.
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Senior Housing Industry
The senior housing industry offers a full continuum of care to seniors with product types that range from “mostly housing” (i.e., senior apartments) to “mostly healthcare” (i.e., skilled
nursing, hospitals, etc.). We primarily focus on product types at the center of this continuum, namely IL properties. We believe that our focused portfolio of primarily IL properties will
allow investors to participate in the positive fundamentals of the senior housing sector. However, according to the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (the “CDC”), older
adults and people of any age who have serious underlying medical conditions might be at higher risk for severe illness from COVID-19. The CDC guidance also states that people age
65 and older and those living in nursing homes or long-term care facilities are at high-risk for severe illness from COVID-19. While we do not own nursing facilities, the age and other
demographics of our residents fall within the CDC guidance. We do not know if or how this will affect seniors’ views on different types of senior living.
Given the rapidly evolving nature of the COVID-19 pandemic, all of the observations and forward-looking statements above represent our current good faith views based upon the
information that we have available to us at this time. See also “Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors” and below “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” for additional discussions regarding
COVID-19 and its impact on our business.
Other Recent Developments
Completion of AL/MC Portfolio Disposition & Related Refinancing Activity
On February 10, 2020, we completed the sale of all 28 of our managed assisted living/memory care (“AL/MC”) properties pursuant to a Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of
October 31, 2019 (the “Sale Agreement”), with affiliates of ReNew REIT for a gross sale price of $385.0 million (“AL/MC Portfolio Disposition”). We recognized a gain on sale of $20.0
million from the AL/MC Portfolio Disposition, which is included in “Discontinued operations, net” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. The sale of these properties
represents a strategic shift that had a major effect on our operations and financial results. Accordingly, the operations of these properties were classified as discontinued operations in
our consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-Q. All prior period information has been reclassified to conform to current period presentation. Refer to “Part I, Item 1.
Note 3 – Discontinued Operations” for additional details.
In February 2020, in conjunction with the AL/MC Portfolio Disposition, we repaid $368.1 million of debt and recognized a loss of extinguishment of debt of $5.9 million, comprising of
$4.5 million in prepayment penalties and $1.4 million in the write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs on the loans, which is included in “Loss on extinguishment of debt” in our
Consolidated Statements of Operations. We also entered into a new financing for $270.0 million, which is secured by 14 managed IL properties. In addition, we amended and restated
our secured revolving credit facility in the amount of $125.0 million (the “Revolver”), which is currently secured by nine managed IL properties and the pledge of the equity interests of
certain of our wholly owned subsidiaries. The amendment extended the maturity of the Revolver from December 2021 to February 2024. The amendment allows the Revolver to be
increased with lender consent to a maximum aggregate amount of borrowing capacity of $500.0 million. Refer to “Part I, Item 1. Note 7 – Debt, Net” for additional details.
As a result of these refinancing initiatives, the Company’s weighted average debt maturity increased from 4.8 years as of December 31, 2019 to 6.0 years as of March 31, 2020. We have
no significant debt maturities until 2024.
MARKET CONSIDERATIONS
Senior housing is a $300 billion market, and ownership of senior housing assets is highly fragmented. Given these industry fundamentals and compelling demographics that are
expected to drive increased demand for senior housing, we believe the senior housing industry could present an attractive investment opportunity. However, increased competition
from other buyers of senior housing assets, the impact of COVID-19 on the senior housing industry, as well as liquidity constraints and other factors, could impair our ability to source
attractive investment opportunities within the senior housing industry and thus to seek investments in the broader healthcare industry.
According to data from the National Investment Center for Seniors Housing and Care (“NIC”), occupancy in the first quarter of 2020 was down 10 basis points year-over-year. New
Senior’s occupancy results outperformed the industry in the first quarter, with same store managed occupancy up 10 basis points year over year. Industry occupancy for independent
living (“IL”) facilities was down 30 basis points year-over-year, while industry occupancy for assisted living (“AL”) facilities was up 10 basis points year-over-year.
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Industry-wide, new supply remains elevated compared to pre-2015 levels, but continues to decrease. Units under construction represent 5.8% of inventory, but the ratio has decreased
150 basis points from the recent peak in the third quarter of 2018. The ratio of AL construction to inventory (5.9%) remains slightly higher than that for IL (5.8%).
While supply trends have improved recently, rate growth has decelerated over the past several quarters. Industry rate growth was 2.4% in the first quarter of 2020, down from the
recent peak of 3.3% in the first quarter of 2019. Rate growth for IL was in line with that for AL, with both metrics increasing 2.4% year-over-year.
The value of our existing portfolio could be impacted by new construction, as well as increased availability and popularity of home health care or other alternatives to senior housing,
by hampering occupancy and rate growth, along with increasing operating expenses.
Additionally, as discussed in more detail above, the COVID-19 pandemic will have an impact on our business in 2020 and beyond. Our occupancy will continue to be impacted in the
near-term and potentially beyond, as federal, state, and local authorities continue to enforce stay-at-home orders and mandate social distancing practices, and it is unclear whether
demand for our properties will be impacted by fears related to the COVID-19 pandemic.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Segment Overview
We operate in two reportable business segments, Managed IL Properties and Other Properties. Our Managed IL Properties segment includes 102 IL properties throughout the United
States managed by Holiday, Merrill Gardens and Grace under Property Management Agreements. Our Other Properties segment includes one CCRC property, which is currently leased
to Watermark under a triple net lease agreement that obligates the tenant to pay all property-related expenses, including maintenance, utilities, taxes, insurance, repairs, capital
improvements and the payroll expense of property-level employees. It also includes the operations of two managed AL/MC properties we previously owned during the three months
ended March 31, 2019 and sold in the second quarter of 2019.
Net Operating Income
We evaluate performance of these reportable business segments based on segment NOI. We consider NOI an important supplemental measure used to evaluate the operating
performance of our segments because it allows investors, analysts and our management to assess our unleveraged property-level operating results and to compare our operating
results between periods and to the operating results of other real estate companies on a consistent basis. We define NOI as total revenues less property level operating expenses,
which include property management fees and travel cost reimbursements.
Our Managed IL Properties segment is comprised of independent living senior housing properties that are operated by property managers to which we pay a management fee. Our
Other Properties segment is comprised of a senior housing property leased on a long-term basis, and our tenant is typically responsible for bearing property-related expenses
including maintenance, utilities, taxes, insurance, repairs, capital improvements and the payroll expense of property-level employees. Depreciation and amortization, interest expense,
acquisition, transaction and integration expense, termination fee, management fees and incentive compensation to affiliate, general and administrative expense, loss on extinguishment
of debt, impairment of real estate, other expense (income), gain (loss) on sale of real estate, gain on lease termination, litigation proceeds, net, income tax expense (benefit) and
discontinued operations, net are not allocated to individual segments for purposes of assessing segment performance. Because of such differences in our exposure to property
operating results, each segment requires a different type of management focus. As such, these segments are managed separately. In deciding how to allocate resources and assess
performance, our chief operating decision maker regularly evaluates the performance of our reportable segments on the basis of NOI.
Same Store
Same store information is intended to enable management to evaluate the performance of a consistent portfolio of real estate in a manner that eliminates variances attributable to
changes in the composition of our portfolio over time, due to sales and various other factors. Properties acquired, sold, transitioned to other operators or between segments, or
classified as held for sale or discontinued operations during the comparable periods are excluded from the same store amounts.
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Three months ended March 31, 2020 compared to three months ended March 31, 2019
The following table provides a reconciliation of our segment NOI to net loss, and compares the results of operations for the respective periods:

Three Months Ended March 31,
(dollars in thousands)

Segment NOI for Managed IL Properties
Segment NOI for Other Properties

2020

$

Total segment NOI
Expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
General and administrative expense
Acquisition, transaction and integration expense
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Other (income) expense
Total expenses
Income (Loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense
Income (Loss) from continuing operations
Gain on sale of real estate
Loss from discontinued operations
Discontinued operations, net
Net income (loss)
Deemed dividend on redeemable preferred stock
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders
_______________

Increase (Decrease)

2019

33,942
1,583

$

Amount

33,026
1,366

$

Percentage

916
217

2.8 %
15.9 %
3.3 %

35,525

34,392

1,133

17,536
17,219
5,846
133
5,884
(105)

16,994
19,850
4,978
492
—
1,315

542
(2,631)
868
(359)
5,884
(1,420)

3.2 %
(13.3)%
17.4 %
(73.0)%
NM
(108.0)%

46,513

43,629

2,884

(10,988)
60

(9,237)
36

(1,751)
24

(19.0)%
66.7 %

(11,048)
19,992
(3,107)

(9,273)
—
(1,920)

(1,775)
19,992
(1,187)

(19.1)%
NM
(61.8)%

16,885
5,837
(598)

(1,920)
(11,193)
(598)

18,805
17,030
—

NM
152.1 %
—%

17,030

144.4 %

$

5,239

$

(11,791)

$

6.6 %

NM – Not meaningful

Managed IL Properties
The following table presents same store and total portfolio results as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019:
Same Store & Total Portfolio
(dollars in thousands, except per bed data)

2020

Resident fees and services
Less: Property operating expense
NOI
Total properties as of the period ended
Average available beds
Average occupancy (%)
Average monthly revenue per occupied bed

2019

Change

85,007
51,065

$

83,745
50,719

$

1,262
346

1.5%
0.7%

$

33,942

$

33,026

$

916

2.8%

$

102
11,976
87.1
2,716

$

102
11,974
87.0
2,680

Resident fees and services
Same store and total resident fees and services increased $1.3 million. This increase is primarily attributable to an increase in average rental rates.
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%

$

Property operating expense
Same store and total property operating expense increased $0.3 million. This increase is primarily due to additional labor and supplies costs incurred in response to the COVID-19
pandemic.
Segment NOI
Same store NOI and total segment NOI increased $0.9 million. See above for the variance explanations.
Other Properties
The following table presents same store and total portfolio results as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 but excluding properties whose operations were
classified as discontinued operations:
Same Store Portfolio
(dollars in thousands, except per bed
data)

2020

2019

Total Portfolio

Change

%

2020

2019

Change

Resident fees and services
Rental Revenue
Less: Property operating expense

$

—
1,583
—

$

—
1,582
—

$

—
1
—

NM
0.1%
NM

$

—
1,583
—

$

2,004
1,582
2,220

$

NOI

$

1,583

$

1,582

$

1

0.1%

$

1,583

$

1,366

$

Total properties as of the period
ended
Average available beds
_______________

1
463

1
463

1
463

(2,004)
1
(2,220)
217

%

NM
0.1%
NM
15.9%

3
742

NM – Not meaningful

Resident fees and services
Resident fees and services represent residents’ monthly rental and care fees from two managed AL/MC properties. Total resident fees and services decreased $2.0 million due to the
sale of these AL/MC assets in the second quarter of 2019.
Rental Revenue
Rental revenue relates to rents from our triple net lease property. Same store and total portfolio rental revenue remained relatively unchanged for the comparative periods. As a
percentage of rental revenue, same store segment NOI was 100% of revenue for each fiscal year as the lessee operates the property and bears the related costs, including maintenance,
utilities, taxes, insurance, repairs, capital improvements and the payroll expense of property-level employees.
Property operating expense
Property operating expense relates to costs incurred at two managed AL/MC properties. Total property operating expense decreased $2.2 million due to the sale of these AL/MC
assets in the second quarter of 2019.
Segment NOI
Total segment NOI increased $0.2 million. See above for the variance explanations.
Same store segment NOI remained relatively unchanged for the comparative periods.
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Expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization increased $0.5 million primarily due to additional depreciation on capital expenditure additions put into service subsequent to the first quarter of 2019.
Interest expense
Interest expense decreased $2.6 million primarily due to lower effective interest rates as a result of debt repayments in conjunction with the AL/MC Portfolio Disposition, lower interest
rate on the newly refinanced debt and a decrease in LIBOR for the comparative periods. The weighted average effective interest rates for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and
2019 were 4.36% and 4.89%, respectively.
General and administrative expense
General and administrative expense increased $0.9 million primarily due to additional compensation expense, including the amortization of equity-based compensation granted to
officers and employees during the three months ended March 31, 2020.
Acquisition, transaction and integration expense
Acquisition, transaction and integration expense decreased $0.4 million primarily due to costs associated with the strategic review during the three months ended March 31, 2019.
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Loss on extinguishment of debt increased $5.9 million primarily due to $4.5 million of prepayment penalties and a $1.4 million write-off of unamortized deferred financing fees related to
debt paid off in conjunction with the AL/MC Portfolio Disposition.
Other expense
Other expense decreased by $1.4 million. This is primarily due to a lower fair value loss on our interest rate caps and insurance recoveries for property damage.
Income tax expense
We are organized and conduct our operations to qualify as a REIT under the requirements of the Code. However, certain of our activities are conducted through our TRS and therefore
are subject to federal and state income taxes. Income tax expense was relatively flat during the comparative periods.
Discontinued operations, net
Discontinued operations, net increased $18.8 million primarily due to the sale of 28 AL/MC properties in February 2020 which resulted in a gain on sale of real estate of $20.0 million.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Our principal liquidity needs are to (i) fund operating expenses, (ii) meet debt service requirements, (iii) fund recurring capital expenditures and investment activities, if applicable, and
(iv) make distributions to stockholders. As of March 31, 2020, we had approximately $135.1 million in liquidity, consisting of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents. A portion of this
amount is held in operating accounts used to fund expenses at our managed properties and, therefore, may not be available for distribution to stockholders.
Our principal sources of liquidity are (i) cash flows from operating activities, (ii) proceeds from financing in the form of debt, and, from time to time, (iii) proceeds from dispositions of
assets and (iv) proceeds from the issuance of equity securities. Our cash flows from operating activities are primarily driven by (i) rental revenues and fees received from residents of
our managed properties,
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and (ii) rental revenues from the tenant of our triple net lease property, less (iii) operating expenses (primarily property operating expense of our managed properties, general and
administrative expenses, professional fees, insurance and taxes) and (iv) interest payments on our debt. Our principal uses of liquidity are the expenses included in cash flows from
operating activities, plus capital expenditures, principal payments on debt, and distributions to our stockholders.
We anticipate that our cash on hand, our cash flows provided by operating activities, and cash available to be drawn down from our Revolver will be sufficient to fund our business
operations, recurring capital expenditures, principal payments, and the distributions we are required to make to comply with REIT requirements over the next 12 months. Our actual
distributions to stockholders have historically been higher than the REIT distribution requirement. The Revolver is an important source of liquidity for us. We borrowed $100.0 million
under the Revolver in March 2020. The material terms of the Revolver are discussed in more detail in “Part I, Item 1. Note 7 - Debt, Net.”
Our cash flows from operating activities, less capital expenditures and principal payments, have been, and continue to be, less than the amount of distributions to our stockholders.
We have funded the shortfall using cash on hand. There can be no assurance that we will pay cash dividends in an amount consistent with prior quarters. Any difference between the
amount of any future dividend and the amount of dividends in prior quarters could be material, and there can be no assurance that our board of directors will declare any dividend at
all. In light of the ongoing impacts of COVID-19, the board of directors reduced the Company’s regular quarterly cash dividend on its common shares for the first quarter of 2020 by
50% to $0.065 per share. The board of directors believes the dividend reduction is the most prudent course of action as it continues to monitor the Company’s financial performance
and liquidity. The board of directors will continue to re-evaluate the level of future dividends.
The impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic will also affect the Company’s liquidity in other ways. As discussed above in “Overview - COVID-19 & Considerations Related to Our
Business,” we expect decreased occupancy in our properties, which will result in a reduction in our revenues and our cash flows. Over time, if financial results at the properties which
secure the Revolver underperform, our availability to borrow funds under the Revolver will be limited. In addition, if rental revenues and fees received from residents of our managed
properties decline as a result of financial or other difficulties in residents making rent payments to us, it would have a significant effect on our cash flows from operating activities.
Lastly, we have also temporarily halted all elective capital expenditure projects and are limiting projects to those deemed necessary.
The expectations set forth above are forward-looking and subject to a number of uncertainties and assumptions, which are described in more detail in our Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the SEC under “Factors That Could Impact Our Liquidity, Capital Resources and Capital Obligations” as well as below in “Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors.” If our expectations
about our liquidity prove to be incorrect, we could be subject to a shortfall in liquidity in the future, and this shortfall may occur rapidly and with little or no notice, which would limit
our ability to address the shortfall on a timely basis.
Other Factors That Could Impact Our Liquidity, Capital Resources and Capital Obligations
The following factors could also impact our liquidity, capital resources and capital obligations:
•

Access to Financing: Decisions by investors, counterparties and lenders to enter into transactions with us will depend upon a number of factors, such as our historical and
projected financial performance, compliance with covenant terms, industry and market trends, the availability of capital and our investors’, counterparties’ and lenders’
policies and rates applicable thereto and the relative attractiveness of alternative investment or lending opportunities.

•

Impact of Expected Additional Borrowings or Sales of Assets on Cash Flows: The availability and timing of and proceeds from additional borrowings or refinancing of
existing debt may be different than expected or may not occur as expected. The timing of any sale of assets, and the proceeds from any such sales, are unpredictable and may
vary materially from an asset’s estimated fair value and carrying value.

•

Compliance with Debt Obligations: Our financings subject us and our operators to a number of obligations, and a failure to satisfy certain obligations, including (without
limitation) a failure by the guarantors of our leases to satisfy certain financial covenants that depend in part on the performance of our leased assets, which is outside of our
control, could give rise to a requirement to prepay outstanding debt or result in an event of default and the acceleration of the maturity date for repayment. We may also seek
amendments to these debt covenants, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain any such amendment on commercially reasonable terms, if at all.
27

Debt Obligations
Our debt contains various customary financial and other covenants, and in certain cases include a Debt Service Coverage Ratio, Project Yield or Minimum Net Worth, Minimum
Consolidated Tangible Net Worth, Adjusted Consolidated EBITDA to Fixed Charges and Liquid Assets provision, as defined in the agreements. As of March 31, 2020, we were in
compliance with all of such covenants.
Capital Expenditures
For our Managed IL Properties and Other Properties segments, we anticipate that capital expenditures will be funded through operating cash flows from the Managed IL Properties.
Capital expenditures, net of insurance proceeds for the Managed IL Properties segment were $2.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020. There were no capital
expenditures for the Other Properties segment for the three months ended March 31, 2020.
With respect to our property under a triple net lease arrangement in the Other Properties segment, the terms of this arrangement require the tenant to fund all necessary capital
expenditures in order to maintain and improve the applicable senior housing properties. To the extent that our tenant is unwilling or unable to fund these capital expenditure
obligations under the existing lease arrangement, we may fund capital expenditures with additional borrowings or cash flow from the operations of the senior housing properties. We
may also provide corresponding loans or advances to our tenant which would increase the rent payable to us. For further information regarding capital expenditures related to our
triple net lease property, see “Contractual Obligations” below and “Part I, Item 1. Note 13 – Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements.
Cash Flows
The following table provides a summary of our cash flows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
(dollars in thousands)

2020

Net cash provided by (used in)
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

$

Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period

(4,241)
371,018
(282,173)

$

84,604
63,829
$

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period

Increase (Decrease)

2019

148,433

Amount

(11,095)
(6,647)
(14,241)

$

(31,983)
92,656
$

60,673

6,854
377,665
(267,932)
116,587
(28,827)

$

87,760

Operating activities
Net cash used in operating activities was $4.2 million and $11.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The period-over-period decrease of $6.9
million was primarily due to a one-time termination fee of $10.0 million paid in 2019 to the Former Manager when we entered into an agreement to internalize our management and higher
NOI during the three months ended March 31, 2020.
Investing activities
Net cash provided by investing activities was $371.0 million and net cash used in investing activities was $6.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. The period-over-period increase of $377.7 million was due to net proceeds received in February 2020 from the AL/MC Portfolio Disposition of $375.0 million.
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Financing activities
Net cash used in financing activities was $282.2 million and $14.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The period-over-period increase of $267.9
million was primarily due to the repayments of debt in conjunction with the AL/MC Portfolio Disposition and debt refinancing of $576.1 million, offset by proceeds from the 2020
Freddie Financing of $270.0 million and borrowings under the Revolver of $100.0 million in February 2020.
The Company borrowed $100.0 million under the Revolver in March 2020.
REIT Compliance Requirements
We are organized and conduct our operations to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. U.S. federal income tax law generally requires that a REIT distribute annually at
least 90% of its REIT taxable income, excluding net capital gains. We intend to pay dividends greater than all of our REIT taxable income to holders of our common stock in 2020, if,
and to the extent, authorized by our board of directors. We note that a portion of this requirement may be able to be met in future years with stock dividends, rather than cash
distributions, subject to limitations. We expect that our operating cash flows will exceed REIT taxable income due to depreciation and other non-cash deductions in computing REIT
taxable income. However, before we pay any dividend, whether for U.S. federal income tax purposes or otherwise, we must first meet both our operating requirements and debt service
on our obligations. If we do not have sufficient liquid assets to enable us to satisfy the 90% distribution requirement, or if we decide to retain cash, we may sell assets, issue equity
securities or borrow funds to make cash distributions, or we may make a portion of the required distribution in the form of a taxable stock distribution or distribution of debt securities.
Income Tax
We are organized and conduct our operations to qualify as a REIT under the requirements of the Code. Currently, certain of our activities are conducted through our TRS and
therefore are subject to federal and state income taxes at regular corporate tax rates.
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
As of March 31, 2020, we do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. We do not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities
often referred to as structured investment vehicles, special purpose or variable interest entities established to facilitate off-balance sheet arrangements. Further, we have not
guaranteed any obligations of unconsolidated entities or entered into any commitment or intend to provide additional funding to any such entities.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
As of March 31, 2020, we had the following material contractual obligations, including estimates of interest payments on our floating rate debt (dollars in thousands):
Period from
April 1, 2020 to
December 31, 2020

Principal payments

$

Balloon payments

2,305

2021

$

—

Subtotal

2022

9,241

$

2023

19,103

$

2024

19,817

$

Thereafter

24,160

$

44,276

Total

$

118,902

—

48,419

—

100,000

1,337,112

1,485,531

2,305

9,241

67,522

19,817

124,160

1,381,388

1,604,433

Redeemable preferred stock

20,000

20,000

—

—

—

—

40,000

Interest & redeemable preferred stock
dividend (A)(B)

49,209

63,877

60,643

59,175

55,987

87,029

375,920

392

509

471

466

235

310

Leases
Total obligations (C)

$

71,906

$

93,627

$

128,636

$

79,458

$

180,382

$

1,468,727

2,383
$

2,022,736

(A) Estimated interest payments on floating rate debt are calculated using LIBOR rates in effect at March 31, 2020 and may not be indicative of actual payments. Actual payments may vary significantly due to
LIBOR fluctuations. See “ Part I, Item 1. Note 7 – Debt, Net” to the consolidated financial statements for further information about interest rates.
(B) Includes obligations to pay dividends of $1.8 million in 2020, and $1.2 million in 2021 on the Series A redeemable preferred stock.
(C) Total obligations include an estimate of interest payments on floating rate debt, see Note A above.

In addition to our contractual obligations, we are a party to property management agreements with property managers. See “Part I, Item 1. Note 13 – Commitments and Contingencies”
to the consolidated financial statements for information related to our capital improvement and repair commitments.
NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES
A non-GAAP financial measure is a measure of historical or future financial performance, financial position or cash flows that excludes or includes amounts that are not excluded from
or included in the most comparable GAAP measure. We consider certain non-GAAP financial measures to be useful supplemental measures of our operating performance for
management and investors. GAAP accounting for real estate assets assumes that the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over time, even though real estate values
historically have risen or fallen with market conditions. As a result, many industry investors look to non-GAAP financial measures for supplemental information about real estate
companies.
You should not consider non-GAAP measures as alternatives to GAAP net (loss) income, which is an indicator of our financial performance, or as alternatives to GAAP cash flow from
operating activities, which is a liquidity measure. Additionally, non-GAAP measures are not intended to be a measure of our ability to satisfy our debt and other cash requirements. In
order to facilitate a clear understanding of our consolidated historical operating results, you should examine our non-GAAP measures in conjunction with GAAP net income, cash flow
from operating activities, investing activities and financing activities, as presented in our consolidated financial statements, and other financial data included elsewhere in this report.
Moreover, the comparability of non-GAAP financial measures across companies may be limited as a result of differences in the manner in which real estate companies calculate such
measures.
Below is a description of the non-GAAP financial measures used by our management and reconciliations of these measures to the most directly comparable GAAP measures.
Funds From Operations, Normalized Funds From Operations and Adjusted Funds from Operations
We use Funds From Operations (“FFO”) and Normalized FFO as supplemental measures of our operating performance. We use the National Association of Real Estate Investment
Trusts (“NAREIT”) definition of FFO. NAREIT defines FFO as GAAP net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders, which includes loss from discontinued operations,
excluding gains (losses) from sales of depreciable real estate assets and impairment charges of depreciable real estate, plus real estate depreciation and amortization, and after
adjustments for unconsolidated entities and joint ventures to reflect FFO on the same basis. FFO does not account for debt principal payments and is not intended as a measure of a
REIT’s ability to satisfy such payments or any other cash requirements.
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Normalized FFO, as defined below, measures the financial performance of our portfolio of assets excluding items that, although incidental to, are not reflective of the day-to-day
operating performance of our portfolio of assets. We believe that Normalized FFO is useful because it facilitates the evaluation of our portfolio’s operating performance (i) between
periods on a consistent basis and (ii) to the operating performance of other real estate companies. However, comparability may be limited because our calculation of Normalized FFO
may differ significantly from that of other companies or because of features of our business that are not present in other companies.
We define Normalized FFO as FFO excluding the following income and expense items, as applicable: (a) acquisition, transaction and integration related expenses; (b) the write off of
unamortized discounts, premiums, deferred financing costs, or additional costs, make whole payments and penalties or premiums incurred as the result of early repayment of debt
(collectively “Gain (Loss) on extinguishment of debt”); (c) incentive compensation recognized as a result of sales of real estate; (d) the remeasurement of deferred tax assets; (e)
valuation allowance on deferred tax assets, net; (f) termination fee to affiliate; (g) gain on lease termination; (h) compensation expense related to transition awards; (i) litigation
proceeds; and (j) other items that we believe are not indicative of operating performance, generally reported as “Other expense (income)” in our Consolidated Statements of
Operations.
We also use Adjusted FFO (“AFFO”) as a supplemental measure of our operating performance. We believe AFFO is useful because it facilitates the evaluation of (i) the current
economic return on our portfolio of assets between periods on a consistent basis and (ii) our portfolio versus those of other real estate companies that report AFFO. However,
comparability may be limited because our calculation of AFFO may differ significantly from that of other companies, or because of features of our business that are not present in other
companies.
We define AFFO as Normalized FFO excluding the impact of the following: (a) straight-line rents; (b) amortization of above / below market lease intangibles; (c) amortization of deferred
financing costs; (d) amortization of premium or discount on mortgage notes payable; (e) amortization of deferred community fees and other, which includes the net change in deferred
community fees and other rent discounts or incentives; and (f) amortization of equity-based compensation expense.
The following table sets forth a reconciliation of net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders to FFO, Normalized FFO and Adjusted FFO; adjustments below include
amounts related to properties classified as discontinued operations:
Three Months Ended March 31,
(dollars in thousands)

2020

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders
Depreciation and amortization
Gain on sale of real estate

$

FFO
Acquisition, transaction and integration expense
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Compensation expense related to transition awards
Other (income) expense (A)
Normalized FFO
Straight line rental revenue
Amortization of equity-based compensation expense
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Amortization of deferred community fees and other
$

Adjusted FFO

2019

5,239
17,536
(19,992)

$

(11,791)
20,787
—

2,783
1,170
9,486
390
(294)

8,996
650
—
601
1,306

13,535
(134)
1,106
906
(1,314)

11,553
(173)
—
1,208
569

14,099

$

13,157

(A) Primarily includes changes in the fair value of financial instruments, insurance recoveries and casualty related charges.

Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization
Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”) facilitates an assessment of the operating performance of our existing portfolio of
assets on an unleveraged basis by eliminating the impact of our capital structure and tax position. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders, which includes loss from discontinued operations, before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (including non-cash equity-based compensation
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expense), excluding deemed dividends on redeemable preferred stock, gain or loss on sale of real estate, impairment of real estate held for sale, acquisition, transaction and integration
expense, loss on extinguishment of debt, compensation expense related to transition awards, incentive compensation on sale of real estate, termination fee to affiliate, gain on lease
termination, litigation proceeds, and other expense.
The following table sets forth a reconciliation of net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders to Adjusted EBITDA; adjustments below include amounts related to properties
classified as discontinued operations:
Three Months Ended March 31,

(dollars in thousands)

2020

2019

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders
Depreciation and amortization
Deemed dividend on redeemable preferred stock
Gain on sale of real estate
Acquisition, transaction and integration expense
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Compensation expense related to transition awards
Other (income) expense (A)
Amortization of equity-based compensation expense
Interest expense
Income tax expense

$

5,239
17,536
598
(19,992)
1,170
9,486
390
(294)
1,106
18,580
59

$

(11,791)
20,787
598
—
650
—
601
1,306
—
23,719
80

Adjusted EBITDA

$

33,878

$

35,950

(A) Primarily includes changes in the fair value of financial instruments, insurance recoveries and casualty related charges.

APPLICATION OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our historical financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with
GAAP. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions that could affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses. Our estimates are based on information available to management at the time of
preparation of the financial statements, including the result of historical analysis, our understanding and experience of our operations, our knowledge of the industry and marketparticipant data available to us.
Actual results have historically been in line with management’s estimates and judgments used in applying each of our accounting policies, and management periodically re-evaluates
accounting estimates and assumptions. Actual results could differ from these estimates and materially impact our consolidated financial statements. However, we do not expect our
assessments and assumptions to materially change in the future.
Other than critical accounting policies mentioned in “Part I, Item 1. Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” of our consolidated financial statements, there were no
material changes to our critical accounting policies disclosed in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.
RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
See “Part I, Item 1. Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” of our consolidated financial statements for information about recent accounting pronouncements.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Market risk is the exposure to loss resulting from changes in interest rates, credit spreads, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices and equity prices. The primary market
risks that we are exposed to are interest rate risk and credit risk. These risks are highly sensitive to many factors, including governmental monetary and tax policies, domestic and
international economic and political considerations and other factors beyond our control. All of our market risk sensitive assets and liabilities are for non-trading purposes only. In
addition, we are exposed to liquidity risk.
Interest Rate Risk
We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates on borrowings under our mortgage loans that are floating rate obligations. These market risks result primarily from
changes in LIBOR or prime rates. We continuously monitor our level of floating rate debt with respect to total debt and other factors, including our assessment of current and future
economic conditions.
For fixed rate debt, interest rate fluctuations generally affect the fair value, but do not impact our earnings or cash flows. Therefore, interest rate risk does not have a significant impact
on our fixed rate debt obligations until such obligations mature or until we elect to prepay and refinance such obligations. If interest rates have risen at the time our fixed rate debt
matures or is refinanced, our future earnings and cash flows could be adversely affected by additional borrowing costs. Conversely, lower interest rates at the time of maturity or
refinancing may lower our overall borrowing costs.
For floating rate debt, interest rate fluctuations can affect the fair value, as well as earnings and cash flows. If market interest rates rise, our earnings and cash flows could be adversely
affected by an increase in interest expense. In contrast, lower interest rates may reduce our borrowing costs and improve our operational results. We continuously monitor our interest
rate exposure and may elect to use derivative instruments to manage interest rate risk associated with floating rate debt.
In May 2019, we entered into an interest rate swap with a notional amount of $350.0 million and a maturity date of May 2022 that effectively converts LIBOR-based floating-rate debt to
fixed-rate debt, thus reducing the impact of interest-rate changes on future interest expense. After considering the effect of the interest rate swap, $0.8 billion of our floating rate debt
with an average coupon rate of 3.66% would be subject to interest rate fluctuations. As a result, a 100 basis point increase in interest rates would increase annual interest expense by
$7.9 million. A 100 basis point decrease in interest rates would decrease annual interest expense by $7.8 million due to LIBOR floor included in certain debt agreements.
The table below sets forth the outstanding face amount of our debt subject to LIBOR fluctuations after incorporating the impact of the interest rate swap discussed above, excluding
debt associated with assets classified as discontinued operations:

Floating Rate

$

Fixed Rate

March 31, 2020

December 31, 2019

Outstanding Face Amount

Outstanding Face Amount

789,753

$

789,036

$

1,603,716

814,680
$

Total
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1,604,433

814,680

Liquidity Risk
As described further in “Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors,” the following factors could affect our liquidity, access to capital resources and our capital obligations.
•
•

•
•

•

•

•

Our stock price performance could impair our ability to access the capital markets, and any disruption to the capital markets or other sources of financing generally could also
negatively affect our liquidity.
Our failure to comply with the terms of our financings or a default by our lease counterparty (including a failure by the lease guarantor to satisfy certain financial covenants
that depend on the performance of our leased assets, which are outside of our control) could result in the acceleration of the requirement to repay our indebtedness or require
us to seek amendments to such agreements, which we may not be able to obtain on commercially reasonable terms, if at all.
Our ability to obtain financing or refinancing on favorable terms, if at all.
Real estate investments are relatively illiquid, and our ability to quickly sell or exchange our properties in response to changes in economic or other conditions is limited. In
the event we desire or need to sell any of our properties, the value of those properties and our ability to sell at a price or on terms acceptable to us could be adversely affected
by a downturn in the real estate industry generally, weakness in the senior housing and healthcare industries or other factors.
Because we derive substantially all of our revenues from operations conducted by third parties, any inability or unwillingness by these operators to satisfy their respective
obligations to us or to renew their leases with us upon expiration of the terms thereof could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition, our ability to
service our indebtedness and to make distributions to our stockholders.
To comply with the 90% distribution requirement applicable to REITs and to avoid income and excise taxes, we must make distributions to our stockholders. Our actual
distributions to stockholders have historically been higher than the REIT distribution requirement. Distributions will limit our ability to finance investments and may limit our
ability to engage in transactions that are otherwise in the best interests of our stockholders. Although we do not anticipate any inability to satisfy the REIT distribution
requirement, from time to time, we may not have sufficient cash or other liquid assets to do so. For example, timing differences between the actual receipt of income and actual
payment of deductible expenses, on the one hand, and the inclusion of that income and deduction of those expenses in arriving at our taxable income, on the other hand, or
non-deductible expenses such as principal amortization or repayments or capital expenditures in excess of non-cash deductions may cause us to fail to have sufficient cash or
liquid assets to enable us to satisfy the 90% distribution requirement. In the event that timing differences occur or we decide to retain cash or to distribute such greater
amount as may be necessary to avoid income and excise taxation, we may seek to borrow funds, issue additional equity securities, pay taxable stock dividends, distribute
other property or securities or engage in a transaction intended to enable us to meet the REIT distribution requirements. Any of these actions may require us to raise
additional capital to meet our obligations; however, limitations on our ability to access capital, as described above, could have an adverse effect on our ability to make
required payments on our debt obligations, make distributions to our stockholders or make future investments necessary to implement our business strategy. The terms of
the instruments governing our existing indebtedness restrict our ability to engage in certain types of these transactions.
As discussed in more detail in “Part I, Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations–Liquidity and Capital Resources,”
the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic will affect the Company’s liquidity in various ways, including among other things by further impairing our ability to access the capital
markets, by reducing our revenues due to decreased occupancy at our properties and reduced asset values, which over time may limit the borrowing availability under our
Revolver.
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures. The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated
the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act as of the end of the
period covered by this report. The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported accurately and on a timely basis. Based on such evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that,
as of the end of such period, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective. We instituted a full remote working policy in mid-March that will be in effect
indefinitely. Considering the COVID-19 pandemic, we have modified certain controls to address the challenges associated with a remote working environment.
(b) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. There have not been any changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d- 15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fiscal quarter to which this report relates that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are and may from time to time become involved in legal proceedings, including regulatory investigations and inquiries, in the ordinary course of our business. Although we are
unable to predict with certainty the eventual outcome of any litigation, regulatory investigation or inquiry, in the opinion of management, we do not expect our current and any
threatened legal proceedings to have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations. Given the inherent unpredictability of these types of proceedings,
however, it is possible that future adverse outcomes could have a material adverse effect on our financial results.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
We are supplementing the risk factors described under “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 (“Form 10-K”) with the
additional risk factor set forth below. This additional risk factor supplements, and to the extent inconsistent, supersedes such risk factors.
The novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) global pandemic and measures intended to prevent its spread have had, and may continue to have, a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, as well as on the price of our common stock.
The COVID-19 pandemic is causing significant disruptions to the U.S. and global economies and has contributed to volatility and negative pressure in financial markets. The outbreak
has led federal, state and local governments and public health authorities to impose measures intended to control its spread, including restrictions on freedom of movement and
business operations such as travel bans, border closings, business closures, quarantines and shelter-in-place orders.
Our portfolio consists of independent senior living properties. Accordingly, factors that affect real estate and the senior housing industry will have a more pronounced effect on our
portfolio relative to a portfolio of more diversified investments. In particular, because COVID-19 has had disproportionately severe impacts on the health of seniors, we expect to be
more significantly affected by COVID-19 than other REITs that focus on different sectors. As of the date of this filing, approximately 15.5% of our 103 communities have reported
cases of COVID-19, and we expect the number of confirmed cases to continue to rise as testing for the virus becomes more widespread. Although we are taking various measures to
reduce the risk of transmission of COVID-19 in our properties, including limiting access to our facilities and common areas within our facilities, and we are working proactively with our
operators to monitor their protocols and share best practices for reducing the spread of COVID-19, we can provide no assurance that these measures will be effective in preventing
additional cases of COVID-19 within our properties. COVID-19 and the measures that we have taken in response to combat the virus have already resulted in reduced occupancy rates
of our properties, resulting in reduced rental revenue, and it has increased operating costs at our properties, and we expect these trends to continue during the course of the COVID-19
pandemic. In addition, our residents and tenant may experience deteriorating financial conditions as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and may be unwilling or unable to satisfy their
obligations to us on a timely basis, or at all, which may further reduce our revenues and cash flows. We also may face an increased risk of litigation if we have residents who become
seriously ill due to COVID-19, or with our residents and tenant related to their obligations to us.
The COVID-19 pandemic has also caused, and is likely to continue to cause, severe economic, market and other disruptions worldwide, including a significant decline and volatility in
equity markets and in asset values more generally. These factors have significantly affected the price of our common stock, which traded as high as $8.35 per share and as low as $1.72
per share during the first quarter of 2020. We cannot assure you that conditions in the credit, capital and other financial markets will not continue to deteriorate as a result of the
pandemic, or that our ability to obtain financing, including through refinancing our existing indebtedness at the times of maturity, will not become constrained, which could adversely
affect the availability and terms of our ability to access equity and debt capital markets, or make future borrowings, renewals or refinancings. In addition, our liquidity may be adversely
affected by these factors, reductions in our revenues due to decreased occupancy in our properties and reduced asset values, which over time may limit the borrowing availability
under our Revolver.
The extent of the COVID-19 pandemic’s effect on our business, operational, financial performance and liquidity will depend on future developments, including the duration, spread,
intensity and recurrence of the pandemic, both generally and with respect to its effect on our properties, all of which are highly uncertain and very difficult to predict at this time. Due
to the speed with which the situation is developing, we are not able at this time to estimate the effect of these factors on our business, but the adverse impact of these factors on our
business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows and stock price could be material.
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In addition, to the extent COVID-19 adversely affects our business, financial condition, and results of operations and economic conditions more generally, it may also have the effect
of heightening many of the other risk factors described in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
None.
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
None.
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
On May 4, 2020, the Board adopted Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (as so amended and restated, the “Bylaws”), which took effect immediately. The Bylaws
supersede the previously existing Amended and Restated Bylaws, which took effect on February 25, 2020. The Bylaws were amended to remove the requirement in Section 5.7 of the
Bylaws that there be a minimum of 30 days between the record date and payment date for a dividend or other distribution. The Bylaws continue to provide that there be a maximum of
60 days between the record date and the payment date of a dividend or other distribution, consistent with the Delaware General Corporation Law. The foregoing description is
qualified in its entirety by the full text of the Bylaws, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 3.1 and incorporated by reference herein.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibits filed with this Form 10-Q:
3.1
Amended and Restated Bylaws of New Senior Investment Group Inc.
31.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS
Interactive Data File formatted in Inline XBRL
101.SCH
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
104
Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted in Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized:
NEW SENIOR INVESTMENT GROUP INC.

By:
/s/ Bhairav Patel
Bhairav Patel
Executive Vice President of Finance and Accounting and Interim Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
May 8, 2020
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AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS
OF
NEW SENIOR INVESTMENT GROUP INC.
Adopted by the board of directors (the “Board of Directors”) of New Senior Investment Group Inc. (the “Corporation”) on October 16, 2014, as
amended and restated by the Board of Directors effective as of May 4, 2020 (as amended and restated, the “Bylaws”).
ARTICLE I
OFFICES
v

Section 1.1 Registered Office. The registered office of the Corporation shall be in the State of Delaware at251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, New
Castle County, Delaware 19808; and the Corporation shall have and maintain at all times a registered agent located at such address whose name is Corporation
Service Company, until changed from time to time as provided by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, as in effect from time to time (the
“DGCL”).
Section 1.2 Other Offices. The Corporation may also have offices at such other places, both within and without the State of Delaware, as the Board of
Directors may from time to time determine.

ARTICLE II
MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS
Section 2.1 Place of Meetings. All meetings of the stockholders for the election of directors or for any other purpose shall be held at such time and
place, either within or without the State of Delaware, as shall be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may, in its sole
discretion, determine that a meeting of the stockholders shall not be held at any place, but may instead be held solely by means of remote communication in the
manner authorized by the DGCL.
Section 2.2 Annual Meetings. A meeting of the stockholders for the election of directors shall be held annually on such date and at such time as shall be
designated from time to time by the Board of Directors (each, an “Annual Meeting”). Any other business prescribed by law, by the certificate of incorporation of
the Corporation, as amended and restated from time to time (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), or elsewhere in these Bylaws may be transacted at the Annual
Meeting of Stockholders.
Section 2.3 Special Meetings. Unless otherwise required by law or by the Certificate of Incorporation, special meetings of stockholders, for any purpose
or purposes (a) may be called at any time by either (i) the Chairman of the Board of Directors, if there be one or (ii) the Chief Executive Officer, if there be one,
and (b) shall be called by the Chairman or Chief Executive Officer at the request in writing of (i) the Board of Directors or (ii) a committee of the Board of
Directors that has been duly designated by the Board of Directors and whose powers include the authority to call such meetings. Such request shall state the
purpose or purposes of the proposed meeting. At a special meeting of stockholders, only such business shall be conducted as shall be specified in the notice of
meeting (or any supplement thereto).
Section 2.4 Notice. Except as otherwise provided by law, these Bylaws or the Certificate of Incorporation, whenever stockholders are required or
permitted to take any action at a meeting, a written notice of the meeting shall be given in accordance with Section 6.1 hereof, which shall state the place, if any,
date and hour of the meeting (or the means of remote communication, if any, by which stockholders and proxyholders may be deemed to be present in person),
describing the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. Unless otherwise required by law, such notice of any meeting shall be given not less than ten
(10) nor more than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled to notice of and to vote at such meeting, except that, where any
other minimum or maximum notice period for any action to be taken at such meeting is required under the DGCL, then such other minimum or maximum notice
period shall control.
Section 2.5 Adjournments. Any meeting of the stockholders may be adjourned from time to time to reconvene at the same or some other place, and
notice need not be given of any such adjourned meeting if the time and place, if any, thereof and the means of remote communications, if any, by which
stockholders and proxyholders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such adjourned meeting thereof are announced at the meeting at which the
adjournment is taken. At the adjourned meeting, the Corporation may transact any business which might have been transacted at the original meeting. If the
adjournment is for more than thirty (30) days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, notice of the adjourned meeting in
accordance with the requirements of Section 2.4 hereof shall be given to each stockholder of record entitled to notice of and to vote at the meeting.
Section 2.6 Waiver of Notice. Notice of any meeting of stockholders shall not be required to be given to any stockholder who shall attend such meeting
in person or by proxy and who shall not, at the beginning of such meeting, object to the transaction of any business because the meeting has not been lawfully
called or convened. Notice of any meeting of stockholders also shall not be required to be given to any stockholder who shall, either before or after the meeting,
submit a signed waiver of notice or waive notice by electronic transmission, in person or by proxy. To the extent permitted by law, a stockholder’s attendance at a
meeting, in person or by proxy, waives objection to consideration of a particular matter at the meeting that is not within the purpose or purposes described in the
meeting notice, unless the stockholder objects to considering the matter when it is presented. Any stockholder so waiving notice of a meeting shall be bound by
the proceedings of such meeting in all respects as if due notice thereof had been given.
Section 2.7 Quorum. Unless otherwise required by applicable law or the Certificate of Incorporation, the holders of a majority of the Corporation’s
capital stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at all meetings of the
stockholders for the transaction of business. Where a separate vote by one or more series or classes is required, a majority in voting power of the outstanding
shares of such one or more series or classes present in person or by proxy shall constitute a quorum entitled to take action with respect to that vote on that matter.
A quorum, once established, shall not be broken by the withdrawal of enough votes to leave less than a quorum. If, however, such quorum shall not be present or
represented at any meeting of the stockholders, the stockholders entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, shall have power to adjourn
the meeting from time to time, in the manner provided in Section 2.5 hereof, until a quorum shall be present or represented.
Section 2.8 Organization. Such person as the Chairman of the Board may have designated or, in the absence of such person, such person as the Board
of Directors may have designated or, in the absence of such person, the Chief Executive Officer, or in the Chief Executive Officer’s absence, such person as may
be chosen by the holders of a majority of the Corporation’s shares of capital stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote who are present, in person or by
proxy, shall call to order any meeting of the stockholders and act as chairman of the meeting. In the absence of the Secretary, the secretary of the meeting shall be
such person as the chairman of the meeting appoints.

Section 2.9 Voting. Unless otherwise required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws or permitted by the rules of any stock exchange
on which the Corporation’s shares are listed and traded, any question brought before any meeting of the stockholders, other than the election of directors, shall be
decided by the vote of the holders of a majority of the total number of votes of the Corporation’s capital stock present or represented at the meeting and entitled
to vote on such question, voting as a single class. Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, and subject to Section 2.13(a) of this Article II,
each stockholder present or represented at a meeting of the stockholders shall be entitled to cast one (1) vote for each share of the capital stock entitled to vote
thereat held by such stockholder. Such votes may be cast in person or by proxy as provided in Section 2.10 of this Article II. The Board of Directors, in its
discretion, or person acting as chairman of the meeting of the stockholders, in such person’s discretion, may require that any votes cast at such meeting shall be
cast by written ballot.
Section 2.10 Proxies. Each stockholder entitled to vote at a meeting of the stockholders or to express consent or dissent to corporate action in writing
without a meeting may authorize another person or persons to act for such stockholder as proxy, but no such proxy shall be voted upon after three years from its
date, unless such proxy provides for a longer period. Any proxy to be used at a meeting of stockholders must be filed with the Secretary or the Secretary’s
representative at or before the time of the meeting. Except as otherwise limited therein, proxies shall entitle the persons authorized thereby with respect to a
meeting of stockholders to vote at any adjournment of such meeting but shall not be valid after final adjournment of such meeting. A proxy with respect to stock
held in the name of two or more persons shall be valid if executed by one of them if the person signing appears to be acting on behalf of all the co-owners unless
prior to exercise of the proxy the Corporation receives a specific written notice to the contrary from any one of them. Subject to the provisions of Section 212 of
the DGCL and to any express limitation on the proxy’s authority provided in the appointment form, the Corporation is entitled to accept the proxy’s vote or other
action as that of the stockholder making the appointment. Without limiting the manner in which a stockholder may authorize another person or persons to act for
such stockholder as proxy, the following shall constitute a valid means by which a stockholder may grant such authority:
(a) A stockholder may execute a writing authorizing another person or persons to act for such stockholder as proxy. Execution may be
accomplished by the stockholder or such stockholder’s authorized officer, director, employee or agent signing such writing or causing such person’s signature to
be affixed to such writing by any reasonable means, including, but not limited to, by facsimile or electronic signature.
(b) A stockholder may authorize another person or persons to act for such stockholder as proxy by transmitting or authorizing the transmission
of a facsimile, email or other means of electronic transmission to the person who will be the holder of the proxy or to a proxy solicitation firm, proxy support
service organization or like agent duly authorized by the person who will be the holder of the proxy to receive such transmission, provided that any such facsimile,
email, or other means of electronic transmission must either set forth or be submitted with information from which it can be determined that such transmission was
authorized by the stockholder. If it is determined that such facsimile, email, or other means of electronic transmission is valid, the inspectors or, if there are no
inspectors, such other persons making that determination shall specify the information on which they relied.
Section 2.11 Consent of Stockholders in Lieu of Meeting. Subject to the provisions of the Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation, any action
required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders of the Corporation at any meeting of stockholders may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing,
setting forth the action so taken, is signed by all the stockholders entitled to vote with respect to the subject matter thereof.
Section 2.12 List of Stockholders Entitled to Vote. In accordance with Section 219 of the DGCL, an officer of the Corporation shall cause to be
prepared and made available, at least ten (10) days before every meeting of the stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting,
arranged in alphabetical order, and showing the address of each stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of each stockholder; provided,
however, that if the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote is less than ten (10) days before the meeting date, the list shall reflect the
stockholders entitled to vote as of the tenth (10th) day before the meeting date. Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder, for any purpose
germane to the meeting, during ordinary business hours, for a period of at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting either (i) on a reasonably accessible electronic
network, provided that the information required to gain access to such list is provided with the notice of the meeting, or (ii) during ordinary business hours, at the
principal place of business of the Corporation. In the event that the Corporation determines to make the list available on an electronic network, the Corporation
may take reasonable steps to ensure that such information is available only to stockholders of the Corporation. If the meeting is to be held at a place, then the list
shall be produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof, and may be inspected by any stockholder who is present. If the
meeting is to be held solely by means of remote communication, then the list shall also be open to the examination of any stockholder during the whole time of the
meeting on a reasonably accessible electronic network, and the information required to access such list shall be provided with the notice of the meeting.
Section 2.13 Record Date.
(a) In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of the stockholders or any
adjournment thereof, the Board of Directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date
is adopted by the Board of Directors, and which record date shall not be more than sixty (60) nor less than ten (10) days before the date of such meeting. If no
record date is fixed by the Board of Directors, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of the stockholders shall
be at the close of business on the day immediately preceding the day on which notice is given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the day
immediately preceding the day on which the meeting is held. A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of the
stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting
and in such case shall also fix as the record date for stockholders entitled to notice of such adjourned meeting the same or an earlier date as that fixed for
determination of stockholders entitled to vote in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this clause (a) at the adjourned meeting.
(b) In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting (if an action
in writing is then permitted under the Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation and these Bylaws), the Board of Directors may fix a record date, which record
date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board of Directors, and which record date shall not be more
than ten (10) days after the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board of Directors. If no record date has been fixed by the
Board of Directors, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting, when no prior action by the
Board of Directors is required by applicable law, shall be the first date on which a signed written consent setting forth the action taken or proposed to be taken is

delivered to the Corporation by delivery to its registered office in the State of Delaware, its principal place of business, or an officer or agent of the Corporation
having custody of the book in which proceedings of meetings of the stockholders are recorded. Delivery made to the Corporation’s registered office shall be by
hand or by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested. If no record date has been fixed by the Board of Directors and prior action by the Board of
Directors is required by applicable law, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting shall be at
the close of business on the day on which the Board of Directors adopts the resolution taking such prior action.
(c) Any stockholder’s notice requesting the setting of a record date pursuant to clause (b) of this Section 2.13 shall be valid and effective only if
received by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation and only if it contains the information set forth in Section 2.19 (and, if such notice
relates to the nomination of any person for election or re-election as a director of the Corporation, the questionnaire, representation and agreement required by
Section 2.20 must also be delivered with and at the same time as such notice). The Corporation may require any proposed nominee to furnish such other
information as it may reasonably require to determine the eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as a director of the Corporation. In addition, a stockholder
requesting a record date for proposed stockholder action by consent shall promptly provide any other information reasonably requested by the Corporation.
Section 2.14 Stock Ledger. The stock ledger of the Corporation shall be the only evidence as to who are the stockholders entitled to examine the stock
ledger, the list required by Section 2.12 of this Article II or the books of the Corporation, or to vote in person or by proxy at any meeting of the stockholders.
Section 2.15 Meetings by Remote Communications. Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, if authorized by the Board of
Directors, any annual or special meeting of stockholders, whether such meeting is to be held at a designated place or by means of remote communication, may be
conducted in whole or in part by means of remote communication. If authorized by the Board of Directors, and subject to such guidelines and procedures as the
Board of Directors may adopt, stockholders and proxyholders not physically present at a meeting of stockholders may, by means of remote communications:
(a) participate in such meeting of stockholders; and (b) be deemed present in person and vote at such meeting of stockholders whether such meeting is to be held
at a designated place or solely by means of remote communication, provided that: (i) the Corporation shall implement reasonable measures to verify that each
person deemed present and permitted to vote at the meeting by means of remote communication is a stockholder or proxyholder; (ii) the Corporation shall
implement reasonable measures to provide such stockholders and proxyholders a reasonable opportunity to participate in the meeting and to vote on matters
submitted to the stockholders, including an opportunity to read or hear the proceedings of the meeting substantially concurrently with such proceedings; and (iii) if
any stockholder or proxyholder votes or takes other action at the meeting by means of remote communication, a record of such vote or other action shall be
maintained by the Corporation.
Section 2.16 Reproductions. Any copy, facsimile or other reliable reproduction of a vote, consent, waiver, proxy appointment or other action by a
stockholder or by the proxy or other agent of any stockholder may be substituted or used in lieu of the original writing or electronic transmission for any and all
purposes for which the original writing or electronic transmission could be used, so long as the copy, facsimile or other reproduction is a complete reproduction of
the entire original writing or electronic transmission.
Section 2.17 Conduct of Meetings.
(a) The Board of Directors of the Corporation may adopt by resolution such rules and regulations for the conduct of any meeting of the
stockholders as it shall deem appropriate. Except to the extent inconsistent with such rules and regulations as adopted by the Board of Directors, the chairman of
any meeting of the stockholders shall have the right and authority to prescribe such rules, regulations and procedures and to do all such acts as, in the judgment of
such chairman, are appropriate for the proper conduct of the meeting. Such rules, regulations or procedures, whether adopted by the Board of Directors or
prescribed by the chairman of the meeting, may include, without limitation, the following: (i) the establishment of an agenda or order of business for the meeting;
(ii) the determination of when the polls shall open and close for any given matter to be voted on at the meeting; (iii) rules and procedures for maintaining order at
the meeting and the safety of those present; (iv) limitations on attendance at or participation in the meeting to stockholders of record of the Corporation, their duly
authorized and constituted proxies or such other persons as the chairman of the meeting shall determine; (v) restrictions on entry to the meeting after the time fixed
for the commencement thereof; and (vi) limitations on the time allotted to questions or comments by participants.
(b) The chairman of any meeting of stockholders shall have the power and duty to determine all matters relating to the conduct of the meeting,
including determining whether any nomination or item of business has been properly brought before the meeting in accordance with these Bylaws (including
whether the stockholder or beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination or proposal is made, solicited (or is part of a group that solicited) or did not
so solicit, as the case may be, proxies in support of such stockholder’s nominee or proposal in compliance with such stockholder’s representation as required by
Section 2.19), and if the chairman should so determine and declare that any nomination or item of business has not been properly brought before a meeting of
stockholders, then such business shall not be transacted or considered at such meeting and such nomination shall be disregarded. Unless and to the extent
determined by the Board of Directors or the chairman of the meeting, meetings of stockholders shall not be required to be held in accordance with the rules of
parliamentary procedure.
Section 2.18 Inspectors of Election. In advance of any meeting of the stockholders, the Board of Directors, by resolution, the Chairman of the Board or
the Chief Executive Officer shall appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting and make a written report thereof. One or more other persons may be
designated as alternate inspectors to replace any inspector who fails to act. If no inspector or alternate is able to act at a meeting of the stockholders, the chairman
of the meeting shall appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting. Unless otherwise required by applicable law, inspectors may be officers, employees or
agents of the Corporation. Each inspector, before assuming the duties of inspector, shall take and sign an oath to execute faithfully the duties of inspector with
strict impartiality and according to the best of such inspector’s ability. The inspector shall have the duties prescribed by law and shall take charge of the polls and,
when the vote is completed, shall make a certificate of the result of the vote taken and of such other facts as may be required by applicable law.
Section 2.19 Nature of Business at Meetings of Stockholders. Only such business (other than nominations for election to the Board of Directors, which
must comply with the provisions of Section 2.20 of this Article II) may be transacted at an Annual Meeting as is either (a) specified in the notice of meeting (or any
supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board of Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof), (b) otherwise properly brought before the
Annual Meeting by or at the direction of the Board of Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof), or (c) otherwise properly brought before the Annual
Meeting by any stockholder of the Corporation (i) who is a stockholder of record on the date of the giving of the notice provided for in this Section 2.19 and on

the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at such Annual Meeting and (ii) who complies with the notice procedures set
forth in this Section 2.19. This Section shall be the exclusive means for a stockholder to make business proposals before a special meeting of stockholders (other
than matters properly bought under Rule 14a-8 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and included in the Corporation’s
notice of meeting). Subject to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act, nothing in these Bylaws shall be construed to permit any stockholder, or give any stockholder
the right, to include or have disseminated or described in the Corporation’s proxy statement any business proposal.
In addition to any other applicable requirements, for business to be properly brought before an Annual Meeting by a stockholder, such stockholder must
have given timely notice thereof in proper written form to the Secretary of the Corporation.
To be timely, a stockholder’s notice to the Secretary must be delivered to or be mailed and received at the principal executive offices of the Corporation
not less than ninety (90) days nor more than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the anniversary date of the immediately preceding Annual Meeting of
Stockholders; provided, however, that in the event that no Annual Meeting was held in the previous year, or the Annual Meeting is called for a date that is not
within thirty (30) days before or after such anniversary date, notice by the stockholder in order to be timely must be so received not earlier than the opening of
business one hundred twenty (120) days before the date of such Annual Meeting, and not later than the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following the day
on which such notice of the date of the Annual Meeting was mailed or such public disclosure of the date of the Annual Meeting was made, whichever first occurs.
In no event shall the adjournment or postponement of an Annual Meeting, or the public announcement of such an adjournment or postponement, commence a
new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described above.
To be in proper written form, a stockholder’s notice to the Secretary must set forth the following information:
(a) as to each matter such stockholder proposes to bring before the Annual Meeting, (1) a brief description of the business desired to be brought
before the Annual Meeting; (2) the text of the proposal to be voted on by stockholders (including the text of any resolutions proposed for consideration and, in the
event that such business includes a proposal to amend the Bylaws, the language of the proposed amendment); (3) the reasons for conducting such business at the
meeting; and (4) a description of any direct or indirect material interest of the stockholder or of any beneficial owner on whose behalf the proposal is made, or
their respective affiliates, in such business (whether by holdings of securities, or by virtue of being a creditor or contractual counterparty of the Corporation or of a
third party, or otherwise), and all agreements, arrangements and understandings between such stockholder or any such beneficial owner or their respective
affiliates and any other person or persons (naming such person or persons) in connection with the proposal of such business; and
(b) as to the stockholder giving notice and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is being made (each, a “Party”), (1) the
name and address of such Party (in the case of each stockholder, as they appear on the Corporation’s books); (2) the class or series and number of shares of the
Corporation that are owned, directly or indirectly, beneficially or held of record by such Party or any of its affiliates (naming such affiliates); (3) a description of
any agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any swap or other derivative or short position, profit interest, option, warrant, convertible security, stock
appreciation or similar right with exercise or conversion privileges, hedging transactions, and securities lending or borrowing arrangement) to which such Party or
any of its affiliates is, directly or indirectly, a party as of the date of such notice (x) with respect to shares of stock of the Corporation; or (y) the effect or intent of
which is to mitigate loss to, manage the potential risk or benefit of security price changes (increases or decreases) for, or increase or decrease the voting power of
such Party or any of its affiliates with respect to securities of the Corporation or which has a value derived in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, from the value
(or change in value) of any securities of the Corporation, in each case whether or not subject to settlement in the underlying security of the Corporation (each such
agreement, arrangement or understanding, a “Disclosable Arrangement”) (specifying in each case (I) the effect of such Disclosable Arrangement on voting or
economic rights in securities in the Corporation, as of the date of the notice; and (II) any changes in such voting or economic rights which may arise pursuant to the
terms of such Disclosable Arrangement); (4) any proxy, agreement, arrangement, understanding or relationship pursuant to which such Party has a right to vote,
directly or indirectly, any shares of any security of the Corporation; (5) any rights to dividends on the shares of the Corporation owned, directly or indirectly,
beneficially by such Party that are separated or separable from the underlying shares of the Corporation; (6) any proportionate interest in shares of the
Corporation or Disclosable Arrangements held, directly or indirectly, by a general or limited partnership in which such Party is a general partner or, directly or
indirectly, beneficially owns an interest in a general partner; (7) any performance-related fees (other than an asset-based fee) that such Party is directly or
indirectly entitled to based on any increase or decrease in the value of shares of the Corporation or Disclosable Arrangements, if any, as of the date of such notice,
including any such interests held by members of such Party’s immediate family sharing the same household; (8) a representation that the stockholder is a holder of
record of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote at such meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to propose such business or
nomination; (9) a representation whether such Party intends, or is part of a group which intends, either or both (x) to deliver either or both a proxy statement and
form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the Corporation’s outstanding shares of capital stock required to approve or adopt the proposal or elect the
nominee; and (y) otherwise to solicit proxies from stockholders in support of such proposal or nomination. Such notice must be accompanied by a written consent
of each proposed nominee to being named as a nominee and to serve as a director if elected; (10) any other information relating to such Party required to be
disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for, as applicable, either or both the proposal and for
the election of directors in an election contest pursuant to and in accordance with Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder; and (11) a certification regarding whether such Party has complied with all federal, state, and other legal requirements in connection with any one or
more of such Party’s acquisition of shares of capital stock or other securities of the Corporation and such Party’s acts or omissions as a stockholder of the
Corporation.
A stockholder providing notice of business proposed to be brought before an Annual Meeting shall further update and supplement such notice, if
necessary, so that the information provided or required to be provided in such notice pursuant to this Section 2.19 shall be true and correct as of the record date
for determining the stockholders entitled to receive notice of the Annual Meeting and such update and supplement shall be delivered to or be mailed and received
by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than five business days after the record date for determining the stockholders
entitled to receive notice of the Annual Meeting.
No business shall be conducted at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders except business brought before the Annual Meeting in accordance with
the procedures set forth in this Section 2.19; provided, however, that, once business has been properly brought before the Annual Meeting in accordance with
such procedures, nothing in this Section 2.19 shall be deemed to preclude discussion by any stockholder of any such business. If the chairman of an Annual
Meeting determines that business was not properly brought before the Annual Meeting in accordance with the foregoing procedures, the chairman shall declare at
the meeting that the business was not properly brought before the meeting and such business shall not be transacted.

Nothing contained in this Section 2.19 shall be deemed to affect any rights of stockholders to request inclusion of proposals in the Corporation’s
proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act (or any successor provision of law).
Section 2.20 Nomination of Directors. Only persons who are nominated in accordance with the following procedures shall be eligible for election as
directors of the Corporation, except as may be otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation with respect to the right of holders of preferred stock of the
Corporation to nominate and elect a specified number of directors in certain circumstances. Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors may be
made at any Annual Meeting of Stockholders, or at any Special Meeting of Stockholders called for the purpose of electing directors, (a) by or at the direction of
the Board of Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof) or (b) by any stockholder of the Corporation (i) who is a stockholder of record on the date of
the giving of the notice provided for in this Section 2.20 (or Section 2.21, as applicable) and on the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to
notice of and to vote at such Annual Meeting or Special Meeting and (ii) who complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 2.20 (or Section 2.21,
as applicable). This Section and Section 2.21 shall be the exclusive means for a stockholder to make nominations before a special meeting of stockholders.
In addition to any other applicable requirements for a nomination to be made by a stockholder, such stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in
proper written form to the Secretary of the Corporation.
To be timely, a stockholder’s notice to the Secretary pursuant to this Section 2.20 must be delivered to or be mailed and received at the principal
executive offices of the Corporation (a) in the case of an Annual Meeting, not less than ninety (90) days nor more than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the
anniversary date of the immediately preceding Annual Meeting of Stockholders; provided, however, that in the event that no Annual Meeting was held in the
previous year, or the Annual Meeting is called for a date that is not within thirty (30) days before or after such anniversary date, notice by the stockholder in order
to be timely must be so received not earlier than the opening of business one hundred twenty (120) days before the date of such Annual Meeting, and not later
than the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following the day on which such notice of the date of the Annual Meeting was mailed or such public disclosure of
the date of the Annual Meeting was made, whichever first occurs; and (b) in the case of a Special Meeting of Stockholders called for the purpose of electing
directors, not later than the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following the day on which notice of the date of the Special Meeting was mailed or public
disclosure of the date of the Special Meeting was made, whichever first occurs. In no event shall the adjournment or postponement of an Annual Meeting or a
Special Meeting called for the purpose of electing directors, or the public announcement of such an adjournment or postponement, commence a new time period
(or extend any time period) for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described above.
In the event that the number of directors to be elected to the Board of Directors at an Annual Meeting of stockholders is increased and there is no public
announcement by the Corporation naming the nominees for the additional directorships at least one hundred (100) days prior to the first anniversary of the date of
the Corporation’s proxy statement released to stockholders in connection with the previous year’s Annual Meeting of stockholders, a stockholder’s notice
required by this Section 2.20 shall also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for the additional directorships, if it shall be received by the
Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following the day on which such public
announcement is first made by the Corporation.
To be in proper written form, a stockholder’s notice to the Secretary must set forth the following information:
(a) as to each person whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election as a director, (1) all information relating to such person that is
required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for election of directors in an election contest, or is otherwise required, in each case in accordance with
Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act and such other information as may be required by the Corporation pursuant to any policy of the Corporation governing
the selection of directors publicly available (whether on the Corporation’s website or otherwise) as of the date of such notice; (2) such person’s written consent to
being named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected; (3) a statement whether such person, if elected, intends to tender any
advance resignation notice(s) requested by the Board of Directors in connection with subsequent elections, such advance resignation to be contingent upon the
nominee’s failure to receive a majority of the votes cast by stockholders and acceptance of such resignation by the Board of Directors; and (4) a description of all
arrangements or understandings between the stockholder or any beneficial owner on whose behalf such nomination is made, or their respective affiliates, and each
nominee or any other person or persons (naming such person or persons) in connection with the making of such nomination or nominations; and
(b) as to the stockholder giving the notice, and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination is being made, (1) the name and
record address of such Party (in the case of each stockholder, as they appear on the Corporation’s books); (2) the class or series and number of shares of the
Corporation that are owned, directly or indirectly, beneficially or held of record by such Party or any of its affiliates (naming such affiliates); (3) a description of
any Disclosable Arrangement (including any swap or other derivative or short position, profit interest, option, warrant, convertible security, stock appreciation or
similar right with exercise or conversion privileges, hedging transactions, and securities lending or borrowing arrangement) to which such Party or any of its
affiliates is, directly or indirectly, a party as of the date of such notice (x) with respect to shares of stock of the Corporation; or (y) the effect or intent of which is
to mitigate loss to, manage the potential risk or benefit of security price changes (increases or decreases) for, or increase or decrease the voting power of such
Party or any of its affiliates with respect to securities of the Corporation or which has a value derived in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, from the value (or
change in value) of any securities of the Corporation, in each case whether or not subject to settlement in the underlying security of the Corporation (specifying in
each case (I) the effect of such Disclosable Arrangement on voting or economic rights in securities in the Corporation, as of the date of the notice; and (II) any
changes in such voting or economic rights which may arise pursuant to the terms of such Disclosable Arrangement); (4) any proxy, agreement, arrangement,
understanding or relationship pursuant to which such Party has a right to vote, directly or indirectly, any shares of any security of the Corporation; (5) any rights to
dividends on the shares of the Corporation owned, directly or indirectly, beneficially by such Party that are separated or separable from the underlying shares of
the Corporation; (6) any proportionate interest in shares of the Corporation or Disclosable Arrangements held, directly or indirectly, by a general or limited
partnership in which such Party is a general partner or, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns an interest in a general partner; (7) any performance-related fees
(other than an asset-based fee) that such Party is directly or indirectly entitled to based on any increase or decrease in the value of shares of the Corporation or
Disclosable Arrangements, if any, as of the date of such notice, including any such interests held by members of such Party’s immediate family sharing the same
household; (8) a representation that the stockholder is a holder of record of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote at such meeting and intends to appear in
person or by proxy at the meeting to propose such business or nomination; and (9) a representation whether such Party intends, or is part of a group which
intends, either or both (x) to deliver either or both a proxy statement and form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the Corporation’s outstanding
shares of capital stock required to approve or adopt the proposal or elect the nominee; and (y) otherwise to solicit proxies from stockholders in support of such
proposal or nomination. Such notice must be accompanied by a written consent of each proposed nominee to being named as a nominee and to serve as a

director if elected.
The Corporation may require any proposed nominee to furnish such other information as it may reasonably require to determine the eligibility of
such proposed nominee to serve as a director of the Corporation or that could be material to a reasonable stockholder’s understanding of the independence, or
lack thereof, of such nominee. In addition, a stockholder seeking to nominate a director candidate or bring another item of business before the Annual Meeting
shall promptly provide any other information reasonably requested by the Corporation. For purposes of these Bylaws, “public announcement” shall mean
disclosure in a press release reported by the Dow Jones News Service, Associated Press or comparable national news service or in a document publicly filed by
the Corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Sections 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act.
A stockholder providing notice of any nomination proposed to be made at an Annual Meeting or Special Meeting shall further update and
supplement such notice, if necessary, so that the information provided or required to be provided in such notice pursuant to this Section 2.20 shall be true and
correct as of the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to receive notice of the Annual Meeting or Special Meeting, and such update and
supplement shall be delivered to or be mailed and received by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than five business days
after the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to receive notice of such Annual Meeting or Special Meeting.
To be eligible to be a nominee for election or re-election by the stockholders as a director of the Corporation or to serve as a Director of the
Corporation, a person must deliver (not later than the deadline prescribed in the foregoing) to the Secretary a written questionnaire with respect to the background
and qualification of such person and, if applicable, the background of any other person on whose behalf the nomination is being made (which questionnaire shall
be provided by the Secretary upon written request) and a written representation and agreement (in the form provided by the Secretary upon written request) that
such person: (i) is not and will not become a party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding with, and has not given any commitment or assurance to, any
person as to how such person, if elected as a director, will act or vote on any issue or question that has not been disclosed in such questionnaire; (ii) is not and will
not become a party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding with any person other than the Corporation with respect to any direct or indirect
compensation, reimbursement or indemnification in connection with service or action as a director that has not been disclosed in such questionnaire; and (iii) in
such person’s individual capacity and on behalf of any person on whose behalf the nomination is being made, would be in compliance, if elected as a director, and
will comply with, applicable law and all conflict of interest, confidentiality and other policies and guidelines of the Corporation (including the Corporation’s
Corporate Governance Guidelines) applicable to directors generally and publicly available (whether on the Corporation’s website or otherwise) as of the date of
such representation and agreement.
No person shall be eligible for election as a director of the Corporation unless nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in this
Section 2.20. If the chairman of the meeting determines that a nomination was not made in accordance with the foregoing procedures, the chairman shall declare
to the meeting that the nomination was defective and such defective nomination shall be disregarded.
Section 2.1 Proxy Access.
(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these Bylaws, whenever the Board of Directors solicits proxies with respect to the election of
directors at an Annual Meeting of Stockholders, subject to the provisions of this Section 2.21, the Corporation shall include in its proxy statement, form of proxy
and other applicable filings pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act (the “Proxy Materials”) the name, together with the Required Information (as defined
below), of any individual nominated for election to the Board of Directors (each such individual being hereinafter referred to as a “Stockholder Nominee”) by a
stockholder or group of no more than twenty (20) stockholders that satisfies the requirements of this Section 2.21 (such individual or group, including as the
context requires each member thereof, being hereinafter referred to as the “Eligible Stockholder”).To be eligible to make a nomination pursuant to this Section
2.21, an Eligible Stockholder must have Owned (as defined below) at least three percent (3%) of the shares of Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share (the
“Common Stock”), outstanding from time to time (the “Required Shares”) continuously for at least three (3) years (the “Minimum Holding Period”) as of both the
date the Notice of Proxy Access Nomination is received by the Secretary of the Corporation in accordance with this Section 2.21 and the close of business on
the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and must thereafter continuously Own the Required
Shares through the date of such Annual Meeting (and any postponement or adjournment thereof). For purposes of this Section 2.21, an Eligible Stockholder shall
be deemed to “Own” only those outstanding shares of Common Stock as to which the Eligible Stockholder possesses both (i) the full voting and investment rights
pertaining to the shares and (ii) the full economic interest in (including the opportunity for profit from and risk of loss on) such shares; provided that the number of
shares calculated in accordance with clauses (i) and (ii) shall not include any shares (A) sold by such Eligible Stockholder or any of its affiliates in any transaction
that has not been settled or closed, including short sales, (B) borrowed by such Eligible Stockholder or any of its affiliates for any purpose or purchased by such
Eligible Stockholder or any of its affiliates pursuant to an agreement to resell, (C) that are subject to any option, warrant, forward contract, swap, contract of sale,
other derivative or similar instrument, agreement, arrangement or understanding entered into by such Eligible Stockholder or any of its affiliates, whether any such
instrument, agreement, arrangement or understanding is to be settled with shares or with cash or other property based on the notional amount or value of shares of
outstanding Common Stock, in any such case which instrument, agreement, arrangement or understanding has, or is intended to have, the purpose or effect of (1)
reducing in any manner, to any extent or at any time in the future, such Eligible Stockholder’s or its affiliate’s full right to vote or direct the voting of any such
shares or (2) hedging, offsetting or altering (or attempting to hedge, offset or alter) to any degree any gain or loss arising from the full economic ownership of such
shares by such Eligible Stockholder or its affiliate, or (D) for which the Eligible Stockholder or its affiliate has transferred the right to vote the shares other than by
means of a proxy, power of attorney or other instrument or arrangement that is unconditionally revocable at any time by the Eligible Stockholder or its affiliate and
that expressly directs the proxy holder to vote at the direction of the Eligible Stockholder or its affiliate. In addition, an Eligible Stockholder shall be deemed to
“Own” shares of Common Stock held in the name of a nominee or other intermediary so long as the Eligible Stockholder retains the full right to instruct how the
shares are voted with respect to the election of directors and possesses the full economic interest in the shares of Common Stock. An Eligible Stockholder’s
Ownership of shares of Common Stock shall be deemed to continue during any period in which the Eligible Stockholder has loaned such shares, provided that the
Eligible Stockholder has the power to recall such loaned shares on five business days’ notice and has in fact unconditionally recalled such loaned shares upon
notice that the Stockholder Nominee will be included in the Proxy Materials and through the date of the Annual Meeting of Stockholders (and any postponement
or adjournment thereof). For purposes of this Section 2.21, the terms “Owned,” “Owning” and other variations of the word “Own” shall have correlative
meanings. Whether and how outstanding shares of Common Stock are “Owned” for these purposes shall be determined by the Board of Directors in its sole
discretion. In addition, for purposes of this Section 2.21, the term “affiliate” or “affiliates” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto pursuant to Rule 12b-2 under
the Exchange Act.

(b) To be eligible to make a nomination pursuant to this Section 2.21, an Eligible Stockholder must provide to the Secretary of the Corporation,
in proper form and within the times specified below, (i) a written notice expressly electing to have such Stockholder Nominee included in the Proxy Materials
pursuant to this Section 2.21 (a “Notice of Proxy Access Nomination”) and (ii) any updates or supplements to such Notice of Proxy Access Nomination. To be
timely, the Notice of Proxy Access Nomination must be received by the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not
earlier than 9:00 a.m., Eastern Time, on the one hundred and fiftieth (150th) day nor later than 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on the one hundred and twentieth (120th)
day prior to the first anniversary of the date the Corporation first distributed its definitive proxy statement for the preceding year’s Annual Meeting of
Stockholders; provided, however, that in the event that the date of the Annual Meeting of Stockholders is advanced or delayed by more than thirty (30) days
from the first anniversary of the date of the preceding year’s Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the Notice of Proxy Access Nomination to be timely must be so
received by the Secretary of the Corporation not earlier than 9:00 a.m., Eastern Time, on the one hundred and fiftieth (150th) day prior to the date of such Annual
Meeting and not later than 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on the later of the one hundred and twentieth (120th) day prior to the date of such Annual Meeting, as
originally convened, or the tenth (10th) day following the date on which public announcement of the date of such Annual Meeting is first made. The public
announcement of a postponement or an adjournment of an Annual Meeting of Stockholders shall not commence a new time for the giving of a Notice of Proxy
Access Nomination as described above.
(c) To be in proper form for purposes of this Section 2.21, the Notice of Proxy Access Nomination shall include the following information (the
“Required Information”):
(i) one or more written statements from the record holder of the Required Shares (and from each intermediary through which the
Required Shares are or have been held during the Minimum Holding Period and, if applicable, each participant in the Depository Trust Company (“DTC”)
or affiliate of a DTC participant through which the Required Shares are or have been held during the Minimum Holding Period if the intermediary is not a
DTC participant or affiliate of a DTC participant) verifying that, as of a date within seven business days prior to the date the Notice of Proxy Access
Nomination is received by the Secretary of the Corporation, the Eligible Stockholder Owns, and has Owned continuously for the Minimum Holding
Period, the Required Shares, and the Eligible Stockholder’s agreement to provide (A) within five business days after the record date for the Annual
Meeting of Stockholders, written statements from the record holder or intermediaries between the record holder and the Eligible Stockholder verifying the
Eligible Stockholder’s continuous Ownership of the Required Shares through the close of business on the record date, together with a written statement
by the Eligible Stockholder that such Eligible Stockholder will continue to Own the Required Shares through the date of such Annual Meeting (and any
postponement or adjournment thereof), (B) [a statement regarding whether or not the Eligible Stockholder intends to Own the Required Shares for at
least one year following the Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and (C)] the updates and supplements to the Notice of Proxy Access Nomination at the
times and in the forms required by this Section 2.21;
(ii) a copy of the Schedule 14N filed or to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission as required by Rule 14a-18 under the
Exchange Act;
(iii) information that is the same as would be required to be set forth in a stockholder’s notice of nomination pursuant to Section 2.20(a)
and Section 2.20(b) of these Bylaws;
(iv) the written agreement of the Stockholder Nominee (A) if so requested, to meet in person with members of the Board of Directors
and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors on reasonable notice by the Corporation of the time and place and
(B) upon such Stockholder Nominee’s election as a director, to make such acknowledgments, enter into such agreements and provide such information as
the Board of Directors requires of all directors at such time, including, without limitation, agreeing to be bound by the Corporation’s code of business
conduct and ethics, insider trading policy, corporate governance guidelines, confidentiality requirements and other similar policies and procedures;
(v) representation that the Eligible Stockholder (A) acquired the Required Shares in the ordinary course of business and not with the
intent to change or influence control of the Corporation, and that neither the Eligible Stockholder nor any Stockholder Nominee being nominated thereby
presently has such intent, (B) has not nominated and will not nominate for election to the Board of Directors at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders (or
any postponement or adjournment thereof) any individual other than the Stockholder Nominee(s) included in the Proxy Materials pursuant to this Section
2.21, (C) has not engaged and will not engage in, and has not been and will not be a “participant” in another person’s “solicitation,” each within the
meaning of Rule 14a-1(l) under the Exchange Act, in support of the election of any individual as a director at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders (or any
postponement or adjournment thereof) other than such Stockholder Nominee(s) or a nominee of the Board of Directors, (D) has complied, and will
comply, with all applicable laws and regulations applicable to solicitations and the use, if any, of soliciting material in connection with the Annual Meeting
of Stockholders (or any postponement or adjournment thereof), including, without limitation, Rule 14a-9 under the Exchange Act, (E) will not distribute to
any stockholder any form of proxy for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders other than the form distributed by the Corporation and (F) has not provided
and will not provide any facts, statements or information in its communications with the Corporation and the stockholders that were not or will not be true
and complete in all material respects or which omitted or will omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make such facts, statements or information,
in light of the circumstances under which they were or will be provided, not misleading;
(vi) a written undertaking that the Eligible Stockholder (A) assumes all liability arising out of any legal or regulatory violation arising out of
any communication with the stockholders by the Eligible Stockholder, its Affiliates and associates or their respective agents or representatives, either
before or after providing a Notice of Proxy Access Nomination pursuant to this Section 2.21, or out of the facts, statements or information that the
Eligible Stockholder or its Stockholder Nominee(s) provided to the Corporation pursuant to this Section 2.21 or otherwise in connection with the
inclusion of such Stockholder Nominee(s) in the Proxy Materials pursuant to this Section 2.21, and (B) indemnifies and holds harmless the Corporation
and each of its directors, officers, agents and employees against any liability, loss or damages in connection with any threatened or pending action, suit or
proceeding, whether legal, administrative or investigative, against the Corporation or any of its directors, officers, agents or employees arising out of any

nomination of a Stockholder Nominee or inclusion of such Stockholder Nominee in the Proxy Materials pursuant to this Section 2.21;
(vii) a written description of any compensatory, payment or other agreement, arrangement or understanding with any person or entity
other than the Corporation under which the Stockholder Nominee is receiving or will receive compensation or payments directly related to service on the
Board of Directors, together with a full and complete copy of any such agreement, arrangement or understanding if written; and
(viii) in the case of a nomination by a group, the designation by all group members of one group member that is authorized to act on
behalf of all group members with respect to matters relating to the nomination, including withdrawal of the nomination.
Each Stockholder Nominee and the Eligible Stockholder shall promptly furnish such other information (A) as may reasonably be required by the
Corporation to determine the eligibility of such Stockholder Nominee to qualify as independent (as determined under the rules and listing standards of any
national securities exchange on which any securities of the Corporation are listed), (B) that could be material to a reasonable stockholder’s understanding
of the independence or lack of independence of such Stockholder Nominee or (C) as may reasonably be required by the Corporation to determine that
the Eligible Stockholder meets the criteria for qualification as an Eligible Stockholder.
In addition, if the Eligible Stockholder so elects, a written statement in support of the Stockholder Nominee’s candidacy, not to exceed 500 words,
delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation at the time the Notice of Proxy Access Nomination (as defined below) required by this Section 2.21 is
provided (the “Statement”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 2.21, the Corporation may omit from the Proxy Materials
any information or Statement (or portion thereof) that the Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, determines (A) is materially false or misleading, (B)
omits to state any material fact necessary in order to make such information or the Statement, in light of the circumstances under which it was provided or
made, not misleading, (C) violates any applicable law or regulation or provision of the Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws or (D)
impugns the character, integrity or personal reputation of a person or makes charges concerning improper, illegal or immoral conduct or associations, in
each case without factual foundation. For the avoidance of doubt, and any other provision of these Bylaws notwithstanding, the Corporation may in its
sole discretion solicit against and include in Proxy Materials its own statements or other information relating to any Eligible Stockholder or Stockholder
Nominee, including any information provided to the Corporation with respect to the foregoing.
(d) To be eligible to make a nomination pursuant to this Section 2.21, (i) an Eligible Stockholder must further update and supplement the Notice
of Proxy Access Nomination, if necessary, so that the information provided or required to be provided in such Notice of Proxy Access Nomination pursuant to
this Section 2.21 shall be true and complete in all material respects as of the record date for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders and as of the date that is ten (10)
business days prior to such Annual Meeting (or any postponement or adjournment thereof), and (ii) such update and supplement (or a written notice stating that
there is no such update or supplement) shall be received by the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than
5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on the fifth business day after the record date for the meeting (in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of the
record date) and not later than 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on the eighth business day prior to the date of the meeting, if practicable, or, if not practicable, on the first
practicable date prior to the meeting (or any postponement or adjournment thereof) (in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of ten (10)
business days prior to the meeting (or any postponement or adjournment thereof)).
(e) In the event that any fact, statement or information provided by the Eligible Stockholder or a Stockholder Nominee to the Corporation or the
stockholders ceases to be true and complete in all material respects or omits a material fact necessary to make such facts, statements or information, in light of the
circumstances under which they were provided, not misleading, the Eligible Stockholder or Stockholder Nominee, as the case may be, shall promptly notify the
Secretary of the Corporation of any defect in such previously provided fact, statement or information and of the fact, statement or information required to correct
any such defect, not later than two business days after becoming aware of the defect.
(f) Whenever an Eligible Stockholder consists of a group of more than one (1) stockholder, each provision in this Section 2.21 that requires the
Eligible Stockholder to provide any written statement, representation, undertaking, agreement or other instrument or to comply with any other requirement or
condition shall be deemed to require each stockholder that is a member of such group to provide such statements, representations, undertakings, agreements or
other instruments and to meet such other requirements or conditions (which, if applicable, shall apply with respect to the portion of the Required Shares Owned
by such stockholder). When an Eligible Stockholder is comprised of a group, a violation of any provision of these Bylaws by any member of the group shall be
deemed a violation by the entire group. No person may be a member of more than one group of persons constituting an Eligible Stockholder with respect to any
Annual Meeting of Stockholders. In determining the aggregate number of stockholders in a group, two or more funds that are (i) under common management and
investment control, (ii) under common management and funded primarily by the same employer (or by a group of related employers that are under common
control) or (iii) a “group of investment companies,” as such term is defined in Section 12(d)(1)(G)(ii) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (each,
a “Qualifying Fund Family”), shall be treated as one stockholder. Not later than the deadline for delivery of the Notice of Proxy Access Nomination pursuant to
this Section 2.21, a Qualifying Fund Family whose stock Ownership is counted for purposes of determining whether a stockholder or group of stockholders
qualifies as an Eligible Stockholder shall provide to the Secretary of the Corporation such documentation as is reasonably satisfactory to the Board of Directors, in
its sole discretion, that demonstrates that the funds comprising the Qualifying Fund Family satisfy the definition thereof.
(g) The maximum number of Stockholder Nominees nominated by all Eligible Stockholders and entitled to be included in the Proxy Materials
with respect to an Annual Meeting of Stockholders shall be the greater of (i) 20% of the number of directors serving on the Board of Directors as of the last day
on which a Notice of Proxy Access Nomination may be timely delivered pursuant to and in accordance with this Section 2.21 (the “Final Proxy Access
Nomination Date”) or, if such percentage is not a whole number, the closest whole number below such percentage or (ii) two; provided that the maximum number
of Stockholder Nominees entitled to be included in the Proxy Materials with respect to a forthcoming Annual Meeting of Stockholders shall be reduced by (A)
the number of directors in office that will be included in the Corporation’s proxy materials with respect to such annual meeting for whom access to the
Corporation’s proxy materials was previously provided pursuant to this paragraph (f) of this Section 2.21, other than any such director referred to in this clause
(A) who at the time of such Annual Meeting of Stockholders will have served as a director continuously, as a nominee of the Board of Directors, for at least two

terms and (B) the number of nominees recommended by the Board of Directors who will be included in the Corporation’s proxy materials pursuant to an
agreement, arrangement or other understanding with a stockholder or group of stockholders (other than any such agreement, arrangement or understanding
entered into in connection with an acquisition of stock from the Corporation by such stockholder or group of stockholders). In the event that one or more
vacancies for any reason occur on the Board of Directors after the Final Proxy Access Nomination Date but before the date of the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders and the Board of Directors elects to reduce the size of the Board of Directors in connection therewith, the maximum number of Stockholder
Nominees eligible for inclusion in the Proxy Materials pursuant to this Section 2.21 shall be calculated based on the number of directors as so reduced. Any
individual nominated by an Eligible Stockholder for inclusion in the Proxy Materials pursuant to this Section 2.21 whose nomination is subsequently withdrawn or
whom the Board of Directors decides to nominate for election to the Board of Directors shall be counted as one of the Stockholder Nominees for purposes of
determining the maximum number of Stockholder Nominees eligible for inclusion in the Proxy Materials pursuant to this Section 2.21. Any Eligible Stockholder
submitting more than one Stockholder Nominee for inclusion in the Proxy Materials pursuant to this Section 2.21 shall rank such Stockholder Nominees based on
the order that the Eligible Stockholder desires such Stockholder Nominees be selected for inclusion in the Proxy Materials in the event that the total number of
Stockholder Nominees submitted by Eligible Stockholders pursuant to this Section 2.21 exceeds the maximum number of Stockholder Nominees eligible for
inclusion in the Proxy Materials pursuant to this Section 2.21(h) and include such ranking in the Notice of Proxy Access Nomination hereunder. In the event the
number of Stockholder Nominees submitted by Eligible Stockholders pursuant to this Section 2.21 exceeds the maximum number of nominees eligible for
inclusion in the Proxy Materials pursuant to this Section 2.21(h), the highest-ranking Stockholder Nominee from each Eligible Stockholder pursuant to the
preceding sentence shall be selected for inclusion in the Proxy Materials until the maximum number of Stockholder Nominees is reached, proceeding in order of
the number of shares of Common Stock (largest to smallest) disclosed as Owned by each Eligible Stockholder in the Notice of Proxy Access Nomination
submitted to the Secretary of the Corporation. If the maximum number is not reached after the highest-ranking Stockholder Nominee from each Eligible
Stockholder has been selected, this selection process shall continue as many times as necessary, following the same order each time, until the maximum number is
reached. The Stockholder Nominees so selected in accordance with this Section 2.21(h) shall be the only Stockholder Nominees entitled to be included in the
Proxy Materials and, following such selection, if the Stockholder Nominees so selected are not included in the Proxy Materials or are not submitted for election
for any reason (other than the failure of the Corporation to comply with this Section 2.21), no other Stockholder Nominees shall be included in the Proxy
Materials pursuant to this Section 2.21.
(h) The Corporation shall not be required to include, pursuant to this Section 2.21, a Stockholder Nominee in the Proxy Materials for any
Annual Meeting of Stockholders (i) for which meeting the Secretary of the Corporation receives a notice that the Eligible Stockholder or any other stockholder
has nominated one or more individuals for election to the Board of Directors pursuant to the advance notice requirements for stockholder nominees for director
set forth in Section 2.20 of these Bylaws, (ii) if the Eligible Stockholder who has nominated such Stockholder Nominee has engaged in or is currently engaged in,
or has been or is a “participant” in another person’s, “solicitation,” each within the meaning of Rule 14a-1(l) under the Exchange Act, in support of the election of
any individual as a director at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders other than its Stockholder Nominee(s) or a nominee of the Board of Directors, (iii) if such
Stockholder Nominee would not qualify as independent (as determined under the rules and listing standards of any national securities exchange on which any
securities of the Corporation are listed), (iv) if such Stockholder Nominee is or becomes a party to any agreement by which the Stockholder Nominee agrees or
commits to vote a certain way on certain matters, (v) if the election of such Stockholder Nominee as a director would cause the Corporation to fail to comply with
these Bylaws, the Articles of Incorporation, the rules and listing standards of any national securities exchange on which any securities of the Corporation are listed,
or any applicable state or federal law, rule or regulation, (vi) if such Stockholder Nominee is or has been, within the past three years, a director, officer, employee
or consultant of a competitor, as defined in Section 8 of the Clayton Antitrust Act of 1914, (vii) if such Stockholder Nominee is a defendant in or named subject
of a pending criminal proceeding (excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses) or has been convicted or has pleaded nolo contendere in such a criminal
proceeding within the past ten (10) years, (viii) if such Stockholder Nominee is subject to any order of the type specified in Rule 506(d) of Regulation D
promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, (ix) if the Eligible Stockholder who has nominated such Stockholder Nominee or such Stockholder
Nominee provides any fact, statement or information to the Corporation or the stockholders required or requested pursuant to this Section 2.21 that is not true
and complete in all material respects or that omits a material fact necessary to make such facts, statements or information, in light of the circumstances in which
they were provided, not misleading, or that otherwise contravenes any of the agreements, representations or undertakings made by such Eligible Stockholder or
Stockholder Nominee pursuant to this Section 2.21 or (x) if the Eligible Stockholder who has nominated such Stockholder Nominee or such Stockholder
Nominee fails to comply with any of its obligations pursuant to this Section 2.21, in each instance as determined by the Board of Directors in its sole discretion.
(i) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the Board of Directors or the or the chairman of the meeting shall declare a
nomination by an Eligible Stockholder to be invalid and such nomination shall be disregarded notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been
received by the Corporation, if (i) the Stockholder Nominee(s) and/or the applicable Eligible Stockholder shall have failed to comply with its or their obligations
under this Section 2.21, as determined by the Board of Directors or the chairman of the meeting, or (ii) the Eligible Stockholder, or an authorized representative
thereof, does not appear at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to present the nomination of the Stockholder Nominee(s) included in the Proxy Materials
pursuant to this Section 2.21. For purposes of this Section 2.21(i), to be considered an authorized representative of a stockholder, a person must be specifically
authorized, by a writing executed by such stockholder or an electronic transmission delivered by such stockholder, to act for such stockholder as its proxy at the
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and such person must produce such writing or electronic transmission, or a reliable reproduction thereof, to the Corporation
prior to such Annual Meeting.
(j) Any Stockholder Nominee who is included in the Proxy Materials for an Annual Meeting of Stockholders but withdraws from or becomes
ineligible or unavailable for election to the Board of Directors, or is not elected and received the affirmative vote of less than twenty-five percent (25%) of the
votes entitled to be cast in the election of directors at such Annual Meeting, will be ineligible for inclusion in the Proxy Materials as a Stockholder Nominee
pursuant to this Section 2.21 for the next two Annual Meetings of Stockholders. For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 2.21(k) shall not prevent any
stockholder from nominating any individual to the Board of Directors pursuant to and in accordance with Section 20 of these Bylaws.
(k) This Section 2.21 provides the exclusive method for a stockholder to nominate one or more nominees for election to the Board of Directors
in the Proxy Materials.
Section 2.2 Requirement to Appear. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 2.19, Section 2.20 and Section 2.21, if the
stockholder (or a qualified representative of the stockholder) does not appear at the annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation to present a

nomination or item of business, such proposed business shall not be transacted and such nomination shall be disregarded, notwithstanding that proxies in respect
of such vote may have been received by the Corporation.

ARTICLE III
DIRECTORS
Section 3.1 Duties and Powers. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board of Directors, which
may exercise all such powers of the Corporation and do all such lawful acts and things as are not by statute or by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these
Bylaws required to be exercised or done by the stockholders.
Section 3.2 Number and Election of Directors. The Board of Directors shall consist of not fewer than three nor more than nine members, the exact
number of which shall be fixed from time to time by resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Entire Board of Directors. From and after the
date of the first meeting of the Board of Directors following the Listing, the directors shall be divided into three classes, designated Class I, Class II and Class III.
Each class shall consist, as nearly as may be possible, of one-third of the total number of directors constituting the Entire Board of Directors. The initial division of
the Board of Directors into classes shall be made by the decision of the affirmative vote of a majority of the Entire Board of Directors. The initial term of the Class
I directors shall terminate on the date of the first Annual Meeting of stockholders held after the Listing; the initial term of the Class II directors shall terminate on
the date of the second Annual Meeting of stockholders held after the Listing; and the initial term of the Class III directors shall terminate on the date of the third
Annual Meeting of stockholders held after the Listing. At each Annual Meeting of stockholders, successors to the class of directors whose term expires at that
Annual Meeting shall be elected for a three-year term and until their successors are duly elected and qualified. If the number of directors is changed, any increase
or decrease shall be apportioned among the classes so as to maintain the number of directors in each class as nearly equal as possible, and any additional director
of any class elected to fill a vacancy resulting from an increase in such class or from the removal from office, death, disability, resignation or disqualification of a
director or other cause shall hold office for a term that shall coincide with the remaining term of the other directors of that class, but in no case shall a decrease in
the number of directors shorten the term of any incumbent director.
The Board of Directors shall present to the stockholders nominations of candidates for election to the Board of Directors (or recommend the election of
such candidates as nominated by others) such that, and shall take such other corporate actions as may be reasonably required to provide that, to the knowledge
of the Board of Directors, if such candidates are elected by the stockholders, following the time of Listing, at least a majority of the members of the Board of
Directors shall be Independent Directors (as hereinafter defined). Following the time of Listing, the Board of Directors shall only elect any person to fill a vacancy
on the Board of Directors if, to the knowledge of the Board of Directors, after such person’s election at least a majority of the members of the Board of Directors
shall be Independent Directors. The foregoing provisions of this paragraph shall not cause a director who, upon commencing such director’s service as a member
of the Board of Directors was determined by the Board of Directors to be an Independent Director but did not in fact qualify as such, or who by reason of any
change in circumstances ceases to qualify as an Independent Director, from serving the remainder of the term as a director for which such director was selected.
Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this paragraph, no action of the Board of Directors shall be invalid by reason of the failure at any time of a majority of
the members of the Board of Directors to be Independent Directors.
Except as provided in Section 3.3 of this Article III, directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes of the shares of capital stock of the Corporation,
present in person or represented by proxy, and entitled to vote on the election of directors at any meeting of stockholders or in any action by written consent in
lieu of such a meeting with respect to which (a) the Corporation receives a notice that a stockholder has nominated a person for election to the Board of Directors
(including a notice that a stockholder seeks to include a nominee in the Corporation’s proxy materials pursuant to Rule 14a-11 under the Exchange Act) that was
timely made in accordance with the applicable nomination periods provided in these Bylaws (or, in the case of a notice that a stockholder seeks to include a
nominee in the Corporation’s proxy materials pursuant to Rule 14a-11 under the Exchange Act, the applicable notice periods provided in such rule), and (b) such
nomination or notice has not been withdrawn (and, in the case of a notice under Rule 14a-11, the Corporation has not determined that it will exclude such
proposed nominee from its proxy materials) on or before the tenth (10th) day before the Corporation first mails its initial proxy statement in connection with such
election of directors; provided, however, that the determination that directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast shall be determinative only as to the
timeliness of a notice of nomination or notice under Rule 14a-11 and not otherwise as to its validity. If directors are to be elected by a plurality of the votes cast,
stockholders shall not be permitted to vote against a nominee.
Section 3.3 Vacancies. Unless otherwise required by law or the Certificate of Incorporation, and subject to the terms of any one or more classes or
series of preferred stock of the Corporation, (i) any vacancy on the Board of Directors that results from an increase in the number of directors may be filled by a
majority of the Board of Directors then in office, provided that a quorum is present, (ii) any other vacancy occurring on the Board of Directors may be filled by a
majority of the Board of Directors then in office, even if less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director or (iii) solely in the event of the removal of the Entire
Board of Directors, by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least eighty percent (80%) of the voting power of the then issued and outstanding shares of capital
stock of the Corporation entitled to vote in the election of directors. Any director of any class elected to fill a vacancy resulting from an increase in the number of
directors of such class shall hold office for a term that shall coincide with the remaining term of that class. Any director elected to fill a vacancy not resulting from
an increase in the number of directors shall have the same remaining term as that of such director’s predecessor.
Section 3.4 Meetings. The Board of Directors and any committee thereof may hold meetings, both regular and special, either within or without the State
of Delaware. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof may be held without notice at such time and at such place as may from time to
time be determined by the Board of Directors or such committee, respectively. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the Chairman, if there
be one, the Chief Executive Officer, or by any two directors. Special meetings of any committee of the Board of Directors may be called by the chairman of such
committee, if there be one, the Chief Executive Officer or any director serving on such committee. Notice thereof stating the place, date and hour of the meeting
shall be given to each director (or, in the case of a committee, to each member of such committee) either by mail not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the
date of the meeting, by telephone, facsimile, email, or other electronic means on twenty-four (24) hours’ notice, or on such shorter notice as the person or persons
calling such meeting may deem necessary or appropriate in the circumstances. A notice of a special meeting of the Board of Directors need not specify the
purpose of the meeting unless required by the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws. Notice of any meeting of the Board shall not, however, be required to
be given to any director who submits a signed waiver of notice, or waives notice of such meeting by electronic transmission, whether before or after the meeting,
or if he or she shall be present at such meeting; and any meeting of the Board of Directors shall be a legal meeting without any notice thereof having been given if

all the directors of the Corporation then in office shall be present thereat or shall have waived notice thereof.
Section 3.5 Organization. At each meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof, the Chairman of the Board of Directors or the chairman
of such committee, as the case may be, or, in such chairman’s absence or if there be none, a director chosen by a majority of the directors present, shall act as
chairman. Except as provided below, the Secretary of the Corporation shall act as secretary at each meeting of the Board of Directors and of each committee
thereof. In case the Secretary shall be absent from any meeting of the Board of Directors or of any committee thereof, an Assistant Secretary shall perform the
duties of secretary at such meeting; and in the absence from any such meeting of the Secretary and all the Assistant Secretaries, the chairman of the meeting may
appoint any person to act as secretary of the meeting. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the members of each committee of the Board of Directors may appoint any
person to act as secretary of any meeting of such committee and the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary of the Corporation may, but need not if such committee
so elects, serve in such capacity.
Section 3.6 Resignations and Removals of Directors. Any director of the Corporation may resign from the Board of Directors or any committee thereof
at any time, by giving notice in writing or electronic transmission to (i) the Chairman of the Board of Directors, if there be one, or to the Chief Executive Officer, if
there is no Chairman of the Board, and (ii) the Secretary of the Corporation and, in the case of a committee, to the chairman of such committee, if there be one.
Such resignation shall take effect at the time therein specified or, if no time is specified, immediately; and, unless otherwise specified in such notice, the acceptance
of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective. Except as otherwise required by applicable law and subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of
shares of preferred stock of the Corporation then outstanding, any director or the Entire Board of Directors may be removed from office at any time, but only for
cause and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least eighty percent (80%) of the voting power of the then issued and outstanding shares of capital stock
of the Corporation entitled to vote in the election of directors. The vacancy or vacancies in the Board of Directors caused by any such removal shall be filled by
the Board of Directors as provided in Section 3.3. Any director serving on a committee of the Board of Directors may be removed from such committee at any
time by the Board of Directors.
Section 3.7 Quorum. Except as otherwise required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or the rules and regulations of any stock exchange on which
the Corporation’s shares are listed and traded, at all meetings of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof, a majority of the Entire Board of Directors or a
majority of the directors constituting such committee, as the case may be, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, and the act of a majority of the
directors or committee members present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the Board of Directors or such committee, as applicable. If a
quorum shall not be present at any meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof, a majority of directors present thereat may adjourn the meeting
from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting of the time and place of the adjourned meeting, until a quorum shall be present.
Section 3.8 Action at Meeting. At any meeting of the Board of Directors at which a quorum is present (or such smaller number as may make a
determination pursuant to Section 145 of the DGCL or any successor provision), business shall be transacted in such order and manner as the Board of Directors
may from time to time determine, and all matters shall be determined by the vote of a majority of the directors present at such meeting at which there is a quorum,
except as is required or provided by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by any other provision of these Bylaws.
Section 3.9 Actions of the Board by Written Consent. Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, any action required
or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting, if all the members of the Board of
Directors or such committee, as the case may be, consent thereto in writing or by electronic transmission, and the writing or writings or electronic transmission or
transmissions are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board of Directors or such committee. Action taken under this Section 3.9 is effective when the last
director signs or delivers the consent, unless the consent specifies a different effective date. A consent signed or delivered under this Section 3.9 has the effect of a
meeting vote and may be described as such in any document.
Section 3.10 Meetings by Means of Conference Telephone. Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, members of
the Board of Directors of the Corporation, or any committee thereof, may participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors or such committee by means of a
conference telephone or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can simultaneously hear each other, and
participation in a meeting pursuant to this Section 3.10 shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.
Section 3.11 Committees. The Board of Directors may designate one or more committees, each committee to consist of one or more of the directors of
the Corporation. Each member of a committee must meet the requirements for membership, if any, imposed by applicable law and the rules and regulations of any
securities exchange or quotation system on which the securities of the Corporation are listed or quoted for trading. The Board of Directors may designate one or
more directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of any such committee. Subject to the
rules and regulations of any securities exchange or quotation system on which the securities of the Corporation are listed or quoted for trading, in the absence or
disqualification of a member of a committee, and in the absence of a designation by the Board of Directors of an alternate member to replace the absent or
disqualified member, the member or members thereof present at any meeting and not disqualified from voting, whether or not such member or members constitute
a quorum, may unanimously appoint another qualified member of the Board of Directors to act at the meeting in the place of any absent or disqualified member.
Any committee, to the extent permitted by law and provided in the resolution establishing such committee, shall have and may exercise all the powers and
authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation, and may authorize the seal of the Corporation to be affixed
to all papers that may require it. Each committee shall keep regular minutes and report to the Board of Directors when required. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary contained in this Article III, the resolution of the Board of Directors establishing any committee of the Board of Directors and/or the charter of any such
committee may establish requirements or procedures relating to the governance and/or operation of such committee that are different from, or in addition to, those
set forth in these Bylaws and, to the extent that there is any inconsistency between these Bylaws and any such resolution or charter, the terms of such resolution or
charter shall be controlling.
Section 3.12 Compensation. The Board of Directors, by affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office, and irrespective of any personal
interest of any of its members, may establish reasonable compensation (including reasonable pensions, disability or death benefits, and other benefits or payments)
of directors for services to the Corporation as directors, or may delegate such authority to an appropriate committee. The directors may be paid their expenses, if
any, of attendance at each meeting of the Board of Directors and may be paid a fixed sum for attendance at each meeting of the Board of Directors or a stated
salary for service as director, payable in cash or securities. No such payment shall preclude any director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and
receiving compensation therefor. Members of special or standing committees may be compensated for their service on such committee. The amount and form of
compensation shall be set by the Board of Directors.

Section 3.13 Interested Directors. No contract or transaction between the Corporation and one or more of its directors or officers, or between the
Corporation and any other corporation, partnership, association or other organization in which one or more of its directors or officers are directors or officers or
have a financial interest, shall be void or voidable solely for this reason, or solely because the director or officer is present at or participates in the meeting of the
Board of Directors or committee thereof which authorizes the contract or transaction, or solely because any such director’s or officer’s vote is counted for such
purpose if: (i) the material facts as to the director’s or officer’s relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the
Board of Directors or the committee, and the Board of Directors or committee in good faith authorizes the contract or transaction by the affirmative votes of a
majority of the disinterested directors, even though the disinterested directors be less than a quorum; or (ii) the material facts as to the director’s or officer’s
relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the stockholders entitled to vote thereon, and the contract or transaction
is specifically approved in good faith by vote of the stockholders; or (iii) the contract or transaction is fair as to the Corporation as of the time it is authorized,
approved or ratified by the Board of Directors, a committee thereof or the stockholders. Common or interested directors may be counted in determining the
presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Board of Directors or of a committee which authorizes the contract or transaction.

ARTICLE IV
OFFICERS
Section 4.1 General. The officers of the Corporation shall be chosen by the Board of Directors and initially shall be a Chief Executive
Officer, a Chief Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer and a Secretary. The Board of Directors, in its discretion, also may choose a Chairman
of the Board of Directors (who must be a director but is not required to be an employee of the Corporation), a Treasurer and one or more other
officers. Any number of offices may be held by the same person, unless otherwise prohibited by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these
Bylaws. The officers of the Corporation need not be stockholders of the Corporation nor, except in the case of the Chairman of the Board of
Directors (who must be a director), need such officers be directors of the Corporation. Whenever an officer or officers is absent, or whenever for
any reason the Board of Directors may deem it desirable, the Board may delegate the powers and duties of any officer or officers to any director
or directors. The Board of Directors may from time to time delegate the powers or duties of any officer to any other officers or agents,
notwithstanding any other provision hereof.
Section 4.2 Election. The Board of Directors shall elect the officers of the Corporation who shall hold their offices for such terms and shall exercise such
powers and perform such duties as shall be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors; and each officer of the Corporation shall hold office until such
officer’s successor is elected and qualified, or until such officer’s earlier death, resignation or removal. Any officer elected by the Board of Directors may be
removed at any time by the Board of Directors, including by unanimous written consent. Any vacancy occurring in any office of the Corporation shall be filled by
the Board of Directors.
Section 4.3 Voting Securities Owned by the Corporation. Powers of attorney, proxies, waivers of notice of meeting, consents and other instruments
relating to securities owned by the Corporation may be executed in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation by the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer, Chief Accounting Officer, Secretary or any other officer authorized to do so by the Board of Directors and any such officer may, in the name of and on
behalf of the Corporation, take all such action as any such officer may deem advisable to vote in person or by proxy at any meeting of security holders of any
corporation in which the Corporation may own securities and at any such meeting shall possess and may exercise any and all rights and power incident to the
ownership of such securities and which, as the owner thereof, the Corporation might have exercised and possessed if present. The Board of Directors may, by
resolution, from time to time confer like powers upon any other person or persons.
Section 4.4 Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Chairman of the Board of Directors, if there be one, shall preside at all meetings of the
stockholders and of the Board of Directors. The Chairman of the Board of Directors shall be designated by the Board of Directors and, except where by law the
signature of the Chief Executive Officer is required, the Chairman of the Board of Directors shall possess the same power as the Chief Executive Officer to sign all
contracts, certificates and other instruments of the Corporation which may be authorized by the Board of Directors. During the absence or disability of the Chief
Executive Officer, the Chairman of the Board of Directors shall exercise all the powers and discharge all the duties of the Chief Executive Officer. The Chairman
of the Board of Directors shall also perform such other duties and may exercise such other powers as may from time to time be assigned by these Bylaws or by
the Board of Directors.
Section 4.5 Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer shall, subject to the control of the Board of Directors and if there be one, the Chairman
of the Board, have general supervision of the affairs of the Corporation, general and active control of all its business and shall see that all orders and resolutions of
the Board of Directors are carried into effect. In the absence or disability of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, or if there be none, the Chief Executive
Officer or his or her designee shall preside at all meetings of the stockholders and, provided the Chief Executive Officer is also a director, the Board of Directors.
The Chief Executive Officer shall see that all orders and resolutions of the Board of Directors and the stockholders are carried into effect. The Chief Executive
Officer shall have general authority to execute bonds, deeds and contracts in the name of the Corporation and affix the corporate seal thereto; to sign stock
certificates; to cause the employment or appointment of such employees and agents of the Corporation as the proper conduct of operations may require, and to
fix their compensation, subject to the provisions of these Bylaws; to remove or suspend any employee or agent who shall have been employed or appointed under
the Chief Executive Officer’s authority or under authority of an officer subordinate to the Chief Executive Officer; to suspend for cause, pending final action by the
authority which shall have elected or appointed the Chief Executive Officer, any officer subordinate to the Chief Executive Officer; and, in general, to exercise all
the powers and authority usually appertaining to the chief executive officer of a corporation, except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws.
Section 4.6 Chief Financial Officer. The Chief Financial Officer shall, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, and if there be one, the Chairman
of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, cause to be kept full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the Corporation and
shall cause to be deposited all monies and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Corporation in such depositories as shall be designated by the
Board of Directors or, in the absence of such designation in such depositories, as the Chief Financial Officer shall from time to time deem proper. The Chief
Financial Officer shall be the treasurer of the Corporation, unless a Treasurer shall be appointed. The Chief Financial Officer shall disburse the funds of the
Corporation as shall be ordered by the Board of Directors, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, shall promptly render to the Chief Executive Officer
and to the Board of Directors such statements of the Chief Financial Officer’s transactions and accounts as the Chief Executive Officer and Board of Directors
respectively may from time to time require, and in general, shall exercise all the powers and authority usually appertaining to the chief financial officer of a

corporation, except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws.
Section 4.7 Absence of the Chief Executive Officer. At the request of the Chief Executive Officer or in the Chief Executive Officer’s absence or in the
event of the Chief Executive Officer’s inability or refusal to act (and if there be no Chairman of the Board of Directors), the President or another officer designated
by the Board of Directors shall perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the
restrictions upon the Chief Executive Officer. Each officer shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board of Directors from time to time
may prescribe. If there be no Chairman of the Board of Directors and no President, the Board of Directors shall designate an officer of the Corporation who, in
the absence of the Chief Executive Officer or in the event of the inability or refusal of the Chief Executive Officer to act, shall perform the duties of the Chief
Executive Officer, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the Chief Executive Officer.
Section 4.8 Secretary. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Secretary shall record all the proceedings of meetings of the Board of Directors and all
meetings of the stockholders in a book or books to be kept for that purpose, and the Secretary shall also perform like duties for committees of the Board of
Directors when required. The Secretary shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of the stockholders and special meetings of the Board of Directors,
and shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer, under
whose supervision the Secretary shall be. If the Secretary shall be unable or shall refuse to cause to be given notice of all meetings of the stockholders and special
meetings of the Board of Directors, and if there be no Assistant Secretary, then either the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer may choose another
officer to cause such notice to be given. The Secretary shall have custody of the seal of the Corporation and the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary, if there be
one, shall have authority to affix the same to any instrument requiring it and when so affixed, it may be attested by the signature of the Secretary or by the signature
of any such Assistant Secretary. The Board of Directors may give general authority to any other officer to affix the seal of the Corporation and to attest to the
affixing by such officer’s signature. The Secretary shall see that all books, reports, statements, certificates and other documents and records required by law to be
kept or filed are properly kept or filed, as the case may be.
Section 4.9 Treasurer. The Treasurer shall have the custody of the corporate funds and securities and shall keep full and accurate accounts of receipts
and disbursements in books belonging to the Corporation and shall deposit all moneys and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Corporation
in such depositories as may be designated by the Board of Directors. The Treasurer shall disburse the funds of the Corporation as may be ordered by the Board
of Directors, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and shall render to the Chief Executive Officer and the Board of Directors, at its regular meetings, or
when the Board of Directors so requires, an account of all transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the Corporation. If required by the Board of
Directors, the Treasurer shall give the Corporation a bond in such sum and with such surety or sureties as shall be satisfactory to the Board of Directors for the
faithful performance of the duties of the office of the Treasurer and for the restoration to the Corporation, in case of the Treasurer’s death, resignation, retirement
or removal from office, of all books, papers, vouchers, money and other property of whatever kind in the Treasurer’s possession or under the Treasurer’s control
belonging to the Corporation.
Section 4.10 Other Officers. Such other officers as the Board of Directors may choose shall perform such duties and have such powers as from time to
time may be assigned to them by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may delegate to any other officer of the Corporation the power to appoint such
other officers and to prescribe their respective duties and powers.
Section 4.11 Resignation. Any officer may resign by delivering such officer’s written resignation to the Chief Executive Officer or the Secretary of the
Corporation at the Corporation’s principal office, and such resignation shall be effective upon receipt unless it is specified to be effective at a later time. If a
resignation is made effective at a later date and the Corporation accepts the future effective date, the Board of Directors may fill the pending vacancy before the
effective date if the Board of Directors provides that the successor shall not take office until the effective date. An officer’s resignation shall not affect the
Corporation’s contract rights, if any, with the officer.
Section 4.12 Removal. The Board of Directors may remove any officer with or without cause. Nothing herein shall limit the power of any officer to
discharge any subordinate.

ARTICLE V
STOCK
Section 5.1 Issuance and Consideration. Subject to any applicable requirements of law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the Board of
Directors may direct the Corporation to issue the number of shares of each class or series of stock authorized by the Certificate of Incorporation. The Board of
Directors may authorize shares to be issued for any valid consideration. Before the Corporation issues shares, the Board of Directors shall determine that the
consideration received or to be received for shares to be issued is adequate. That determination by the Board of Directors is conclusive insofar as the adequacy of
consideration for the issuance of shares relates to whether the shares are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable. Subject to any applicable requirements of
law or the Certificate of Incorporation, the Board of Directors shall determine the terms upon which the rights, options, or warrants for the purchase of shares or
other securities of the Corporation are issued by the Corporation and the terms, including the consideration, for which the shares or other securities are to be
issued.
Section 5.2 Form of Certificate. Except as otherwise provided in a resolution approved by the Board of Directors, all shares of the Corporation shall be
uncertificated shares.
Section 5.3 Share Certificates. If shares are represented by certificates, at a minimum each share certificate shall state on its face: (a) the name of the
Corporation and that it is organized under the laws of the State of Delaware; (b) the name of the person to whom issued; and (c) the number and class of shares
and the designation of the series, if any, the certificate represents. The front or back of each certificate shall also set forth any information or statement required to
be set forth thereon by the DGCL. Unless shares can be issued only in uncertificated form as contemplated by Section 5.3, each stockholder shall be entitled to a
certificate signed by, or in the name of the Corporation by, either manually or in facsimile, the Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer, Secretary or General Counsel (if there be such officers appointed) or any two officers designated by the Board of Directors, certifying the name of shares
owned by him or her. Any or all of the signatures on the certificate may be by facsimile. If the person who signed, either manually or in facsimile, a share certificate
no longer holds office when the certificate is issued, the certificate shall be nevertheless valid.

Section 5.4 Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates. The Board of Directors may, subject to Delaware Code, Title 6, Section 8-405, determine the
conditions upon which a new share certificate or uncertificated share may be issued in place of any certificate alleged to have been lost, destroyed, or wrongfully
taken. The Board of Directors may, in its discretion, require the owner of such share certificate or uncertificated share, or such owner’s legal representative, to
give a bond, sufficient in its opinion, with or without surety, to indemnify the Corporation against any loss or claim which may arise by reason of the issue of the
new certificate or uncertificated share.
Section 5.5 Transfers. Transfers of stock shall be made only upon the transfer books of the Corporation kept at an office of the Corporation or by
transfer agents designated to transfer shares of stock of the Corporation. Subject to any restrictions on transfer and except when a certificate is issued in
accordance with Section 5.4, shares of stock represented by certificates may be transferred on the books of the Corporation by the surrender to the Corporation
or its transfer agent of the certificate therefor properly endorsed or accompanied by a written assignment and power of attorney properly executed, with transfer
stamps (if necessary) affixed, and with such proof of the authenticity of signature as the Corporation or its transfer agent may reasonably require. Upon receipt of
proper transfer instructions from the registered owner of uncertificated shares, such uncertificated shares shall be cancelled and the issuance of new equivalent
uncertificated shares shall be made to the person entitled thereto and the transaction shall be recorded upon the books of the Corporation. A record shall be made
of each transfer and whenever a transfer shall be made for collateral security, and not absolutely, it shall be so expressed in the entry of the transfer.
Section 5.6 Record Owners. The Corporation shall be entitled to recognize the exclusive right of a person registered on its books as the owner of shares
to receive dividends, and to vote as such owner, and to hold liable for calls and assessments a person registered on its books as the owner of shares, and shall not
be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in such share or shares on the part of any other person, whether or not it shall have express or
other notice thereof, except as otherwise required by law.
Section 5.7 Dividend Record Date. In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other
distribution or allotment of any rights or the stockholders entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock, or for the
purpose of any other lawful action, the Board of Directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the
record date is adopted, and which record date shall be not more than sixty (60) days prior to such action. If no record date is fixed, the record date for
determining stockholders for any such purpose shall be at the close of business on the 10th (tenth) day following the date on which the Board of Directors adopts
the resolution relating thereto or such other date as may be required by the notice provisions of the NYSE.
Section 5.8 Transfer and Registry Agents. The Corporation may from time to time maintain one or more transfer offices or agencies and registry offices
or agencies at such place or places as may be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors.
Section 5.9 Regulations. The issue, transfer, conversion and registration of certificates of stock shall be governed by such other regulations as the Board
of Directors may establish.

ARTICLE VI
NOTICES
Section 6.1 Notices. Whenever written notice is required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, to be given to any director, member
of a committee or stockholder, such notice may be given by mail, addressed to such director, member of a committee or stockholder, at such person’s address as
it appears on the records of the Corporation, with postage thereon prepaid, and such notice shall be deemed to be given at the time when the same shall be
deposited in the United States mail. Without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may be given effectively to stockholders, any notice to stockholders
given by the Corporation under applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws shall be effective if given by a form of electronic transmission if
consented to by the stockholder to whom the notice is given. Any such consent shall be revocable by the stockholder by written notice to the Corporation. Any
such consent shall be deemed to be revoked if (i) the Corporation is unable to deliver by electronic transmission two (2) consecutive notices by the Corporation in
accordance with such consent and (ii) such inability becomes known to the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Corporation or to the transfer agent, or other
person responsible for the giving of notice; provided, however, that the inadvertent failure to treat such inability as a revocation shall not invalidate any meeting or
other action. Notice given by electronic transmission, as described above, shall be deemed given: (i) if by facsimile telecommunication, when directed to a number
at which the stockholder has consented to receive notice; (ii) if by electronic mail, when directed to an electronic mail address at which the stockholder has
consented to receive notice; (iii) if by a posting on an electronic network, together with separate notice to the stockholder of such specific posting, upon the later
of (A) such posting and (B) the giving of such separate notice; and (iv) if by any other form of electronic transmission, when directed to the stockholder. An
affidavit of the mailing or other means of giving any notice of any stockholders’ meeting, executed by the Secretary, an Assistant Secretary or any transfer agent of
the Corporation giving the notice, shall be prima facie evidence of the giving of such notice or report. Notice shall be deemed to have been given to all
stockholders of record who share an address if notice is given in accordance with the “householding” rules set forth in Rule 14a-3(e) under the Exchange Act, and
Section 233 of the DGCL. Notice to directors or committee members may be given personally or by telegram, telex, cable or other means of electronic
transmission.
Section 6.2 Waivers of Notice. Whenever any notice is required by applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, to be given to any
director, member of a committee or stockholder, a waiver thereof in writing, signed by the person or persons entitled to notice, or a waiver by electronic
transmission by the person or persons entitled to notice, or a waiver by electronic transmission by the person or persons entitled to notice whether before or after
the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent thereto. Attendance of a person at a meeting, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a
waiver of notice of such meeting, except where the person attends the meeting for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting to the
transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any Annual or
Special Meeting of Stockholders or any regular or special meeting of the directors or members of a committee of directors need be specified in any written waiver
of notice unless so required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws.

ARTICLE VII

GENERAL PROVISIONS
Section 7.1 Dividends. Dividends upon the capital stock of the Corporation, subject to the requirements of the DGCL and the provisions of the
Certificate of Incorporation, if any, may be declared by the Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors (or any action by
written consent in lieu thereof in accordance with Section 3.8 of Article III hereof), and may be paid in cash, in property, or in shares of the Corporation’s capital
stock. Before payment of any dividend, there may be set aside out of any funds of the Corporation available for dividends such sum or sums as the Board of
Directors from time to time, in its absolute discretion, deems proper as a reserve or reserves to meet contingencies, or for purchasing any of the shares of capital
stock, warrants, rights, options, bonds, debentures, notes, scrip or other securities or evidences of indebtedness of the Corporation, or for equalizing dividends, or
for repairing or maintaining any property of the Corporation, or for any proper purpose, and the Board of Directors may modify or abolish any such reserve.
Section 7.2 Disbursements. All checks or demands for money and notes of the Corporation shall be signed by such officer or officers or such other
person or persons as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate.
Section 7.3 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be fixed by resolution of the Board of Directors. If the Board makes no determination to
the contrary, the fiscal year of the Corporation shall be the twelve months ending on December 31 each year.
Section 7.4 Records to be Kept. The Corporation shall keep as permanent records minutes of all meetings of its stockholders and Board of Directors, a
record of all actions taken by the stockholders or Board of Directors without a meeting, and a record of all actions taken by a committee of the Board of
Directors in place of the Board of Directors on behalf of the Corporation. The Corporation or its agent shall maintain a record of its stockholders, in a form that
permits preparation of a list of the names and addresses of all stockholders, in alphabetical order by class or series of shares showing the number and class or
series of shares held by each.
Section 7.5 Execution of Instruments. The Board of Directors may authorize, or provide for the authorization of, officers, employees or agents to enter
into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name and on behalf of the Corporation. Any such authorization must be in writing or by electronic
transmission and may be general or limited to specific contracts or instruments.
Section 7.6 Certificate of Incorporation. All references in these Bylaws to the Certificate of Incorporation shall be deemed to refer to the Certificate of
Incorporation of the Corporation, as amended and in effect from time to time, including any certificate of designations in effect from time to time with respect to
Preferred Stock.
Section 7.7 Construction. The words “include” and “including” and similar terms shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation.”
Whenever used in these Bylaws, any noun or pronoun shall be deemed to include the plural as well as the singular and to cover all genders. Any reference in these
Bylaws to provision of any statute shall be deemed to include any successor provision. Unless the context otherwise requires, the term “person” shall be deemed
to include any natural person or any corporation, organization or other entity.

ARTICLE VIII

INVESTMENT POLICY
Section 8.1 Investment Policy. Subject to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, the Board of Directors may from time to time adopt, amend,
revise or terminate any policy or policies with respect to investments by the Corporation as it shall deem appropriate in its sole discretion.

ARTICLE IX
INDEMNIFICATION
Section 9.1 Power to Indemnify in Actions, Suits or Proceedings other than Those by or in the Right of the Corporation. Subject to Section 9.3 of this
Article IX, the Corporation shall indemnify and hold harmless to the fullest extent authorized by Delaware law any person who was or is a party or is threatened to
be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by
or in the right of the Corporation), by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of the Corporation, or is or was a director or officer of the
Corporation serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines, and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in
connection with such action, suit or proceeding if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the
best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct was unlawful.
The termination of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall not, of
itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best
interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that such person’s conduct was unlawful.
Section 9.2 Power to Indemnify in Actions, Suits or Proceedings by or in the Right of the Corporation. Subject to Section 9.3 of this Article IX, the
Corporation shall indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in
the right of the Corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of the Corporation, or is or was
a director or officer of the Corporation serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint
venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with the defense or
settlement of such action or suit if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of
the Corporation; except that no indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be
liable to the Corporation unless and only to the extent that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or the court in which such action or suit was brought

shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably
entitled to indemnity for such expenses that the Court of Chancery or such other court shall deem proper.
Section 9.3 Authorization of Indemnification. Any indemnification under this Article IX (unless ordered by a court) shall be made by the Corporation
only as authorized in the specific case upon a determination that indemnification of the present or former director or officer is proper in the circumstances because
such person has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in Section 9.1 or Section 9.2 of this Article IX, as the case may be. Such determination shall be
made, with respect to a person who is a director or officer at the time of such determination, (i) by a majority vote of the directors who are not parties to such
action, suit or proceeding, even though less than a quorum, or (ii) by a committee of such directors designated by a majority vote of such directors, even though
less than a quorum, or (iii) if there are no such directors, or if such directors so direct, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion or (iv) by the stockholders.
Such determination shall be made, with respect to former directors and officers, by any person or persons having the authority to act on the matter on behalf of the
Corporation. To the extent, however, that a present or former director or officer of the Corporation has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of
any action, suit or proceeding described above, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, such person shall be indemnified against expenses (including
attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection therewith, without the necessity of authorization in the specific case.
Section 9.4 Good Faith Defined. For purposes of any determination under Section 9.3 of this Article IX, a person shall be deemed to have acted in
good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, or, with respect to any criminal
action or proceeding, to have had no reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct was unlawful, if such person’s action is based on the records or books of
account of the Corporation or another enterprise, or on information supplied to such person by the officers of the Corporation or another enterprise in the course
of their duties, or on the advice of legal counsel for the Corporation or another enterprise or on information or records given or reports made to the Corporation
or another enterprise by an independent certified public accountant or by an appraiser or other expert selected with reasonable care by the Corporation or
another enterprise. The provisions of this Section 9.4 shall not be deemed to be exclusive or to limit in any way the circumstances in which a person may be
deemed to have met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in Section 9.1 or Section 9.2 of this Article IX, as the case may be.
Section 9.5 Indemnification by a Court. Notwithstanding any contrary determination in the specific case under Section 9.3 of this Article IX, and
notwithstanding the absence of any determination thereunder, any director or officer may apply to the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or any other
court of competent jurisdiction in the State of Delaware for indemnification to the extent otherwise permissible under Section 9.1 or Section 9.2 of this Article IX.
The basis of such indemnification by a court shall be a determination by such court that indemnification of the director or officer is proper in the circumstances
because such person has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in Section 9.1 or Section 9.2 of this Article IX, as the case may be. Neither a contrary
determination in the specific case under Section 9.3 of this Article IX nor the absence of any determination thereunder shall be a defense to such application or
create a presumption that the director or officer seeking indemnification has not met any applicable standard of conduct. Notice of any application for
indemnification pursuant to this Section 9.5 shall be given to the Corporation promptly upon the filing of such application. If successful, in whole or in part, the
director or officer seeking indemnification shall also be entitled to be paid the expense of prosecuting such application; provided, however, that such notice shall
not be a requirement for an award of or a determination of entitlement to indemnification or advancement of expenses.
Section 9.6 Expenses Payable in Advance. To the fullest extent authorized by Delaware law, expenses (including attorneys’ and other professionals’ fees
and disbursements and court costs) incurred by a director or officer in defending any civil, criminal, administrative or investigative action, suit or proceeding shall
be paid by the Corporation in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of such director or
officer to repay such amount if it shall ultimately be determined that such person is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation as authorized in this Article
IX. Such expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by former directors and officers or other employees and agents may be so paid upon such terms and
conditions, if any, as the Corporation deems appropriate.
Section 9.7 Non-exclusivity of Indemnification and Advancement of Expenses. The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or
granted pursuant to, this Article IX shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be
entitled under the Certificate of Incorporation, these Bylaws, any agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in such
person’s official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office, it being the policy of the Corporation that indemnification of and
advancement of expenses to the persons specified in Section 9.1 and Section 9.2 of this Article IX shall be made to the fullest extent permitted by law, including
as a result of any amendment of the DGCL expanding the right of corporations to indemnify and advance expenses. The provisions of this Article IX shall not be
deemed to preclude the indemnification of any person who is not specified in Section 9.1 or Section 9.2 of this Article IX but whom the Corporation has the
power or obligation to indemnify under the provisions of the DGCL, or otherwise. The Corporation’s obligation, if any, to indemnify, to hold harmless, or to
provide advancement of expenses to any indemnitee who was or is serving at its request as a director, officer, employee, agent or manager of another
corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust or other enterprise or nonprofit entity (including service with respect to an employee benefit
plan) shall be reduced by any amount such indemnitee actually collects as indemnification, holding harmless, or advancement of expenses from such other
corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust or other enterprise nonprofit entity.
Section 9.8 Insurance. The Corporation may purchase and maintain at its expense insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director or officer
of the Corporation, or is or was a director or officer of the Corporation serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of
another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against such person and incurred by such person in any such
capacity, or arising out of such person’s status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power or the obligation to indemnify such person against
such liability under the provisions of this Article IX or Delaware law. Nothing contained in this Article IX shall prevent the Corporation from entering into with any
person any agreement that provides independent indemnification, hold harmless or exoneration rights to such person or further regulates the terms on which
indemnification, hold harmless or exoneration rights are to be provided to such person or provides independent assurance of any one or more of the
Corporation’s obligations to indemnify, hold harmless, and exonerate such person, whether or not such indemnification, hold harmless or exoneration rights are on
the same or different terms than provided for by this Article IX or is in respect of such person acting in any other capacity, and nothing contained herein shall be
exclusive of, or a limitation on, any right to indemnification, to be held harmless, to exoneration or to advancement of expenses to which any person is otherwise
entitled. The Corporation may create a trust fund, grant a security interest or use other means (including a letter of credit) to ensure the payment of such amounts
as may be necessary to effect indemnification and the advancement of expenses as provided in this Article IX.
Section 9.9 Certain Definitions. For purposes of this Article IX, references to the “Corporation” shall include, in addition to the resulting corporation, any
constituent corporation (including any constituent of a constituent) absorbed in a consolidation or merger which, if its separate existence had continued, would

have had power and authority to indemnify its directors or officers, so that any person who is or was a director or officer of such constituent corporation, or is or
was a director or officer of such constituent corporation serving at the request of such constituent corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, shall stand in the same position under the provisions of this Article IX with respect to the resulting
or surviving corporation as such person would have with respect to such constituent corporation if its separate existence had continued. The term “another
enterprise” as used in this Article IX shall mean any other corporation or any partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise of which
such person is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent. For purposes of this Article IX, references to “fines”
shall include any excise taxes assessed on a person with respect to an employee benefit plan; and references to “serving at the request of the Corporation” shall
include any service as a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation which imposes duties on, or involves services by, such director or officer with
respect to an employee benefit plan, its participants or beneficiaries; and a person who acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be
in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries of an employee benefit plan shall be deemed to have acted in a manner “not opposed to the best interests of the
Corporation” as referred to in this Article IX.
Section 9.10 Survival of Indemnification and Advancement of Expenses. The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted
pursuant to, this Article IX shall, unless otherwise provided when authorized or ratified, continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director or officer and
shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a person.
Section 9.11 Contractual Rights. The rights conferred upon any person in this Article IX shall be contract rights and such rights shall continue as to any
person who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee, trustee or agent, and shall inure to the benefit of such person’s heirs, executors and administrators. A
right to indemnification or to advancement of expenses arising under any provision of this Article IX shall not be eliminated or impaired by an amendment,
alteration or repeal of any provision of the Bylaws of this Corporation after the occurrence of the act or omission that is the subject of the proceeding for which
indemnification or advancement of expenses is sought (even in the case of a proceeding based on such a state of facts that is commenced after such time).
Section 9.12 Limitation on Indemnification. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Article IX to the contrary, except for proceedings to enforce rights
to indemnification (which shall be governed by Section 9.5 of this Article IX), the Corporation shall not be obligated to indemnify any director or officer (or such
director’s or officer’s heirs, executors or personal or legal representatives) or advance expenses in connection with a proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such
person unless such proceeding (or part thereof) was authorized or consented to by the Board of Directors of the Corporation.
Section 9.13 Indemnification of Employees and Agents. The Corporation may, to the extent authorized from time to time by the Board of Directors,
provide rights to indemnification and to the advancement of expenses to employees and agents of the Corporation similar to those conferred in this Article IX to
directors and officers of the Corporation.
Section 9.14 Severability. If this Article IX or any portion hereof shall be invalidated or held to be unenforceable on any ground by any court of
competent jurisdiction, the decision of which shall not have been reversed on appeal, this Article IX shall be deemed to be modified to the minimum extent
necessary to avoid a violation of law and, as so modified, this Article and the remaining provisions hereof shall remain valid and enforceable in accordance with
their terms to the fullest extent permitted by law.

ARTICLE X
FORUM FOR ADJUDICATION OF CERTAIN DISPUTES
Section 10.1 Forum for Adjudication of Certain Disputes. Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum (an
“Alternative Forum Consent”), the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding
brought on behalf of the Corporation, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer, stockholder, employee or agent
of the Corporation to the Corporation or the Corporation’s stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim against the Corporation or any director, officer,
stockholder, employee or agent of the Corporation arising out of or relating to any provision of the DGCL or the Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation or
Bylaws, or (iv) any action asserting a claim against the Corporation or any director, officer, stockholder, employee or agent of the Corporation governed by the
internal affairs doctrine of the State of Delaware; provided, however, that, in the event that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware lacks subject matter
jurisdiction over any such action or proceeding, the sole and exclusive forum for such action or proceeding shall be another state or federal court located within
the State of Delaware, in each such case, unless the Court of Chancery (or such other state or federal court located within the State of Delaware, as applicable)
has dismissed a prior action by the same plaintiff asserting the same claims because such court lacked personal jurisdiction over an indispensable party named as a
defendant therein. Failure to enforce the foregoing provisions would cause the Corporation irreparable harm and the Corporation shall be entitled to equitable
relief, including injunctive relief and specific performance, to enforce the foregoing provisions. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest
in shares of capital stock of the Corporation shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the provisions of this Section 10.1 of Article X. The existence of
any prior Alternative Forum Consent shall not act as a waiver of the Corporation’s ongoing consent right as set forth above in this Section 10.1 of Article X with
respect to any current or future actions or claims.

ARTICLE XI
AMENDMENTS
Section 11.1 Amendments. These Bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed, in whole or in part, or new Bylaws may be adopted by the
stockholders or by the Board of Directors; provided, however, that notice of such alteration, amendment, repeal or adoption of new Bylaws be contained in the
notice of such meeting (if there is one) of the stockholders or Board of Directors, as the case may be. All such alterations, amendments, repeals or adoptions must
be approved by either the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of the then issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of the
Corporation entitled to vote thereon or by a majority of the Entire Board of Directors. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of these Bylaws (and
in addition to any other vote that may be required by law), the affirmative vote of the holders of at least eighty percent (80%) of the voting power of the then
issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote thereon shall be required to amend, alter, change or repeal, or to adopt any

provision as part of these Bylaws inconsistent with the purpose and intent of Section 2.3 (Special Meetings), Section 2.11 (Consent of Stockholders in Lieu of
Meeting), Section 3.1 (Duties and Powers), Section 3.2 (Number and Election of Directors), Section 3.3 (Vacancies), Section 3.6 (Resignations and Removals
of Directors), this Article XI and Article XIII (Definitions) (collectively, the “Specified Bylaws”).

ARTICLE XII
DEFINITIONS
Section 12.1 Certain Defined Terms. For purposes of these Bylaws, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
(a)

“beneficially own” and “beneficial ownership” and similar terms used herein shall be determined in accordance with Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5

under the Exchange Act.
(b)

“Entire Board of Directors” means, at any given time, the total number of directors fixed at such time pursuant to Section 3.2.

(c)

“Independent Director” shall mean a director who (i) qualifies as an “independent director” within the meaning of the corporate governance

listing standards from time to time adopted by the NYSE (or, if at any time the Corporation’s common stock is not listed on the NYSE and is listed on a
stock exchange other than the NYSE, the applicable corporate governance listing standards of such stock exchange) with respect to the composition of
the board of directors of a listed company (without regard to any independence criteria applicable under such standards only to the members of a
committee of the board of directors) and (ii) also satisfies the minimum requirements of director independence of Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Exchange
Act (as from time to time in effect), whether or not such director is a member of the audit committee.
(d)

“Listing” shall mean the listing of the Common Stock on the NYSE or other national securities exchange.

(e)

“NYSE” shall mean the New York Stock Exchange.

***
Adopted as of: May 4, 2020

vi
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Section 3: EX-31.1 (EXHIBIT 31.1)
EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, Susan Givens, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of New Senior Investment Group Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

/s/ Susan Givens

May 8, 2020

Susan Givens
Director and Chief Executive Officer
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Section 4: EX-31.2 (EXHIBIT 31.2)
EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Bhairav Patel, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of New Senior Investment Group Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

May 8, 2020

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

/s/ Bhairav Patel
Bhairav Patel

Executive Vice President of Finance and Accounting and Interim Chief Financial Officer
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Section 5: EX-32.1 (EXHIBIT 32.1)
EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CEO PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of New Senior Investment Group Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2020 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Susan Givens, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of her knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
/s/ Susan Givens

May 8, 2020

Susan Givens
Director and Chief Executive Officer
This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be
deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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Section 6: EX-32.2 (EXHIBIT 32.2)
EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CFO PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of New Senior Investment Group Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2020 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Bhairav Patel, as Interim Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
May 8, 2020

/s/ Bhairav Patel
Bhairav Patel
Executive Vice President of Finance and Accounting and Interim Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be
deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

(Back To Top)

